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SUMMARY

An international flotilla comprising the cruise ship Mavi Marmara, a cargo ship and four smaller craft sailing to Gaza with humanitarian aid was attacked in international waters by a large Israeli naval force on 31 May 2010.   Nine passengers were killed and many injured by live fire.  The legality of the raid is considered according the San Remo Manual and the Fourth Geneva Convention.  The report concludes that the International Committee of the Red Cross declaration of a ‘dire situation’ in the Gaza Strip renders the raid unlawful.

A small number of passengers on the Mavi Marmara planned active and lawful resistance, contrary to the philosophy of the Free Gaza movement and the ship’s captain.  The first assault, beginning around 4 am with firing from zodiac inflatable craft was repelled.  A second assault by helicopter began with live fire causing lethal casualties.  Commandos rappelling onto the deck were then attacked and injured; three were detained but well treated.  

Firing continued after the ship surrendered.  Some of the injured were helicoptered to Israeli hospitals, but many activists reported ill-treatment, abuse and humiliation.  The other vessels were seized with brutal and disproportionate force against a non-violent response.
All cameras, recording equipment, phones, computers and personal possessions were seized.  Most possessions and all cash were not returned.  Seized credit cards have been fraudulently used.  The ships were taken to Ashdod where many detainees were beaten, while consular access was obstructed or denied.  All detainees were then deported.

On 5 June the cargo ship Rachel Corrie was seized in international waters without violence and taken to Ashdod where all on board were quickly deported.

Cargo has been transferred to Gaza, aided by the UN, but some aid and personal belongings have gone to landfill.

Israel defied a UN Security Council call for an international inquiry and appointed its own committee of inquiry which has been condemned for lacking transparency and credibility.  The UN Human Rights Council will conduct a fact finding mission.  Many activists have started legal action.  

The report reasons that the raid was premeditated state terrorism.

We have had governments, we have had the United Nations, we have even had 
President Obama call for the lifting of the blockade on Gaza and the allowance 
of the delivery of humanitarian aid and reconstruction materials to […] the 
Palestinians of Gaza and yet not a single government has taken action.  And so 
it is up to us as civil society, as the real international community […] to take 
action and to expose Israel’s policies to the world and to also try to break the 
blockade on our own.

Adam Shapiro, Board Member of the Free Gaza Movement


This is a clear case of self defence.  Israel cannot allow the free flow of 
weapons, rockets and missiles to the terrorist base of Hamas in Gaza.  It’s 
already fired thousands of rockets on Israeli cities [and] it seeks to smuggle in 
thousands more.  And this is why Israel must inspect goods that come into 
Gaza. It’s also a clear cut [case] of self defence because as our soldiers were 
inspecting these ships they were attacked, they were almost lynched.  They 
were attacked with clubs, with knives, perhaps with live gunfire, and they had 
to defend themselves [because] they were going to be killed.  Israel would not 
allow its soldiers to be lynched; neither would any other self-respecting 
country. 

Israel’s Prime Minister Benjamin Netanyahu

1.0 Introduction

The following is a review of all media sources located by an internet search of newspapers, journals, websites and videos into the events of 31 May 2010 when elite members of the Israeli Defence Force attacked six civilian ships intending to breach the Israeli blockade of the Gaza Strip.  Data containing Israeli and activists’ testimonies and other information relating to legality, timeline, the physical confrontation at sea, the detention of activists, and some related events in the aftermath have been assessed and edited into an account intended as a basis for understanding this catastrophic incident.
2.0 Background
The Gaza Strip in Palestine has been under siege since 2006 from the neighbouring countries of Israel and Egypt which have tightly restricted the movement of people and goods in and out of the Palestinian Territory.  No air traffic is allowed to fly to the Strip and its coastline with the Mediterranean Sea is also blockaded by the Israel Navy which prevents all shipping from going to or from Gaza. The siege has received widespread condemnation from the international community and on 8 January 2009 the UN Security Council passed Resolution 1860 calling for a ceasefire of the hostilities then occurring, and the unimpeded provision through Gaza of food, fuel and medical treatment.  Neither Israel nor Egypt has complied with the resolution and the siege has continued unabated.  In August 2008 two boats belonging to the Free Gaza Movement sailed with 44 peace activists from Cyprus and were allowed to pass with little interference to become the first international vessels in 42 years to visit Gaza. Four successful voyages followed, but three subsequent attempts were prevented from reaching Gaza by violent and illegal intervention from the Israel Navy.
  In May 2010 the Free Gaza Movement joined with five other organizations to send a flotilla of eight boats carrying 10,000 tonnes of supplies and almost 700 passengers
 to assist and support the people of Gaza.  The government of Israel said that the mission was provocative and declared that it would be stopped before it could reach the territory.  The flotilla organizers responded that they were not going to be deterred and the boats set sail.  
Because of suspected sabotage to two of the boats, the MV Challenger II was unable to continue
 
 while the MV Rachel Corrie, which was travelling from Dundalk in Ireland, fell behind schedule. On 31 May the flotilla heading for Gaza consisted of the 4,140-ton Turkish-flagged cruise ship, MV Mavi Marmara, and a 3,200-ton Turkish cargo vessel MV Defney, the Greek-flagged MV Eleftheri Mesogeio and MV Sfendoni, the American-flagged Challenger I and the Swedish-flagged MV Sofia.  
Huwaida Arraf
 told journalists that the flotilla had hired independent security to verify that the boats were weapons free.
  Passengers also had to sign a four-page document pledging that they would not engage in violence and possessed no weapons, and all baggage was subjected to x-ray inspection for weapons prior to boarding. (Before boarding Kevin Neish had his pocket knife confiscated by the organizers who threw it in the sea.
)  Between 5,000 and 6,000 people had applied for the flotilla and radical extremists were not accepted. However there were radical elements on board.  A group of militants was filmed by Al Jazeera chanting an Intifada battle cry ‘Remember Khaibar, Khaibar, oh Jews! Muhammad's army is returning’; recalling a victorious battle fought by the Prophet’s army against the Jews.
 One of those killed on the flotilla was fire fighter Fahri Yaldiz, whose brother told Reuters that Fahri had long wanted to die fighting in Israel to become a martyr.
 
The decision to order the IDF chief of staff to carry out the raid was taken by the Defence Minister Ehud Barak after briefly conferring with Prime Minister Benjamin Netanyahu who was visiting Canada at the time.  Neither Israel’s security cabinet nor its political cabinet nor the deputy Prime Minister Moshe Yaalon deputising for Mr Netanyahu, were informed.
 

At approximately 4 am on 31 May Israeli commandos began ‘Operation Sea Breeze’ to take control of the flotilla by attacking the Mavi Marmara.  Repeated attempts by Greek captains in the flotilla to contact the Greek Foreign Ministry were not answered.
 As news reports broke that morning with accounts of at least 15 dead, worldwide condemnation of Israel followed from the United Nations, governments and citizens.
 After having originally declared that it would prosecute the Freedom Flotilla members who ‘attacked’ its soldiers
 Israel’s Interior Ministry announced that it would deport all foreigners aboard the flotilla.  It said that 702 were deported of whom a total of 527 people were flown to Turkey and Greece
 and 124 were released into Jordan.
 
On 5 June the Rachel Corrie was boarded and seized by Israeli commandos without any violence and the ship was forced to change course for Ashdod.
On 13 June Deputy Foreign Minister Daniel Ayalon told CNN that Israel should not and would not apologize for the raid.
  On the same day Deputy Prime Minister Dan Meridor was more conciliatory, but not repentant, when speaking to the Turkish newspaper Haberturk

What happened is a tragedy. I am very sad, I regret it. No one wanted it or 
expected it. These events should never have happened.  But if some terrorists 
got on the ship and attacked our soldiers, I think that they, not us, must 
apologize.

Fatima Mohammad described it differently.


[It was an] intensely strategic way of keeping anybody out of Gaza to see 
that over the past year and a half since the massacre, and especially since 
the siege began, that the society, and the economy, and the people, and the 
livelihoods of the people there, are in such a poor state that Israel does not 
want anybody else to see it.  And they need to maintain that power and that 
control over this entire area to not allow for change for happen.  And this 
convoy challenged that.

Michel Chossudovsky has suggested the U.S. conspired with Israel to block the flotilla so that Israel could keep de facto control over Gaza’s maritime areas along with access to Palestinian offshore gas fields.

For Dr Fintan Lane the incident was not a success for the activists but a tragedy.  But he added it was a ‘game-changer’.
  Shane Dillon epitomised the feeling of many who had sailed on the flotilla.  Asked on 9 June is he would do it again he unhesitatingly replied ‘Yes……and again, and again’.
  
3.0 Legality of the blockade and Israeli actions on 31 May
3.1 The San Remo Manual

The Free Gaza flotilla was trying to deliver a cargo of certified
 humanitarian aid to Gaza in keeping with UN Security Council Resolution 1860.  On 31 May it was attacked by forces of the state of Israel 90 miles from the coast of Gaza in international waters.
  Israel claimed the operation was legal, quoting the San Remo Manual on International Law Applicable to Armed Conflict at Sea, of which Article 146 allows the interception of shipping on the high seas if a blockade has been legally applied.
  The Israeli interpretation is questionable on several points  
· Since the Manual only applies to ‘belligerent states’ and ‘neutral states’ (as indicated in Section IV) it does not apply in the case of Gaza which is occupied Palestinian territory and is not recognised by the United Nations as a state.

· Articles 101 and 102 of the manual declare that a blockade must not be implemented if the damage to the civilian population is excessive.
 
· Dr Douglas Guilfoyle, who is a legal specialist on shipping interdiction and the Law of the Sea, has questioned whether the blockade had been legally notified, and indicated that it appears to be officially unrecognised by other maritime nations.

· A blockade must be effective and cannot allow the passage of certain ships while preventing others.  Between 23 August and 23 December 2008 Israel allowed the Free Gaza Movement to make six return voyages under neutral flags.  Since 30 December 2008 it has violently prevented all attempts to sail to Gaza.
 The San Remo Manual (Article 95) does not permit inconsistency.
· Article 106 (c) states that the zone of a blockade shall not exceed the area ‘strictly required by military necessity and the principles of proportionality.’  Apart from the 20 nautical miles limit for incoming ships the Israel Navy also enforces a three nautical mile limit on fishing vessels from Gaza which fulfils no military necessity whatever.
 

[Adalah reported that during a court hearing at Ashkelon Magistrate’s Court on 3 June 


The state prosecution was unable to respond to the question of what the legal 
authority of the Israeli military was to attack the boat in international 
waters.
]

3.2 The Fourth Geneva Convention

Above all Israel is a party to the Fourth Geneva Convention of which Part 1 Article 55 and Article 56 apply to it since it maintains ‘effective control’ of the Gaza Strip through the control of the borders, air space and sea lanes.  These articles describe the duties of the Occupying Power of ensuring the food and medical supplies of the population if the resources of the occupied territory are inadequate, along with maintaining the medical and hospital establishments and services, public health and hygiene in the occupied territories.

3.3 Effects of the closure on the civilian population of Gaza

A number of Israeli and pro-Israeli sources have claimed or implied that there is not a humanitarian problem in Gaza.  The Israel Foreign Ministry’ expert on maritime and humanitarian law, Sarah Weiss Maudi said that Israel supplies vital humanitarian goods on a daily basis.
 
 While this assertion is generally correct (Israel does, at its sole discretion, entirely close the border on occasions so the assertion ‘on a daily basis’ is not strictly fair) Ms Maudi avoids any assessment of the reasonable requirements of the population in comparison with the quantities officially permitted to enter by Israel.  The Head of operations for the Middle East ICRC said on 14 June 

…people are surviving thanks to the external assistance coming/comes in, but 
it is a trickle compared to what is needed in Gaza.

In a document by Intelligence and Terrorism Information Center on the confrontation on the Mavi Marmara on 7 June, an unnamed journalist is reported to have stated

...he had visited the Gaza Strip as part of a humanitarian delegation and his 
impression was that there was no distress or lack [of commodities] in the 
Gaza Strip. He added that "everything is propaganda"

The real propaganda was exposed unequivocally a week later.
On 14 June the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) published a news release which unreservedly called for Israel to lift the closure of Gaza.   It said 

As the ICRC has stressed repeatedly, the dire situation in Gaza cannot 
be resolved by providing humanitarian aid. The closure imposed on 
the Gaza Strip is about to enter its fourth year, choking off any real 
possibility of economic development. Gazans continue to suffer from 
unemployment, poverty and warfare, while the quality of Gaza's 
health care system has reached an all-time low.


The whole of Gaza's civilian population is being punished for acts for 
which they bear no responsibility. The closure therefore constitutes a 
collective punishment imposed in clear violation of Israel's 
obligations under international humanitarian law.
The news release called on the international community to ensure that the closure was lifted, stated that under international humanitarian law Israel must ensure the basic needs of Gazans are met,  and said that all States have an obligation to facilitate rapid and unimpeded passage of all relief consignments, equipment and personnel.

The ICRC also called on those detaining Israeli soldier Gilad Shalit to grant him the regular contact with his family to which he is entitled to and ensure that he is well treated and provided with humane and dignified living conditions.

Some of the conditions of life under the closure were detailed

· 80 types of goods are currently allowed into Gaza (twice as many as in the previous year) compared with 4,000 items that could be brought in before the closure.

· 50 square kilometres amounting to nearly one third of Gaza’s farmland was unusable because of the buffer zone imposed by Israel.
· As a result of the fishing limit of 3 nautical miles imposed by Israel nearly 90% if Gaza’s fishermen are considered either poor or very poor.

· The power supply is disrupted for seven hours a day on average which has a devastating effect on the primary health-care system.
· The situation in the hospitals is set to worsen as fuel reserves for hospital generators run out.  Excessive delays and restrictions in transferring medical equipment and supplies (some of which are the result of non-cooperation between the Palestinian authorities in Ramallah and Gaza) are threatening the lives and health of patients.  The ICRC’s health coordinator for Gaza said ‘The state of the health-care system in Gaza has never been worse’.
· The inability to obtain enough suitable materials to carry out sanitation projects has resulted in the vast discharge of raw sewage into the Wadi Gaza jeopardizing the health of communities living on its banks, and the over-exploitation and pollution of Gaza’s aquifer.  Most of the drinking water in Gaza is unfit for consumption.   
· U.S. $4.5 billion pledged by donor countries for the reconstruction of Gaza cannot be put to use because of the closure.

This was the first time that the ICRC has explicitly stated that the blockade constitutes a violation of international humanitarian law.

In the light of this publication from the ICRC there can no longer be any doubt of the illegality of the Gaza closure or about Israel’s blockade to enforce it, of which the raid on the Freedom Flotilla was a part.  The violent actions of the Israel Navy on 31 May and the ensuing detention of the passengers on board were totally unlawful under international humanitarian law.
3.4 Piracy

Many people have described the actions of the Israel Navy as piracy.  According to Diakonia

Illegal attack by warships or state agents of civilian ships cannot be regarded 
as piracy as piracy is an act for private gain.

There are at least three independent reports that credit cards taken by Israeli commandos from passengers on the high seas have since been used for private gain (see Section 6.1 below) In addition considerable sums of money were forcible taken from passengers on the flotilla, with none of it returned.  This appears to raise the question of whether piracy also occurred during the illegal assault on the flotilla.  
3.5 The U.S. Arms Export Control Act (AECA)
The use of weapons supplied by the United States is governed by the AECA which prohibits the use beyond security within the recipients own borders or direct self-defence.
  As such an illegal lethal assault on civilian shipping in international waters using weaponry made and supplied by the U.S. (such as Apache and Blackhawk helicopters and M4 carbines) contravenes U.S. domestic law. 
3.6 The ships belonging to the flotilla

All of the ships in the flotilla were taken to Ashdod port.  On 1 June in a formal presidential statement the UN Security Council ‘request[ed] the immediate release of the ships...’
  To date this request has not been complied with and the ships are believed to remain in Ashdod port along with the ‘Spirit of Humanity’, another ship belonging to the Free Gaza Movement which Israel illegally seized on 30 June 2009
 
4.0 The assault on the Mavi Marmara

4.1 Activist’s accounts of the raid
Israeli warships were first spotted by the flotilla at about 11 pm on 30 May.  They demanded that the cruise ship change course but Captain Mehmut Tuval responded ‘Negative.  Our destination is Gaza.’
 The ship altered course to the west to keep as far away from Israel as possible and avoid confrontation. The fourteen warships with helicopters and over 1,000 elite soldiers remained at a distance for some hours.
 
 Hanin Zoabi recalled

I thought to myself that this is not the kind of forces that’s to stop us. We are 
600 passengers. Maybe less than a quarter of these forces, maybe less than 
tenth of these forces, can just prevent us very, very easily. And I was—I 
actually—maybe for the first time, I think, in my life, I was very afraid. And I 
thought to myself, this will not—the end of this will be a tragic [inaudible] 
end. It will not end without dead bodies.

The operation began by cutting all satellite communications to the flotilla
 and the Mavi Marmara was attacked at around 4 am with tear gas, stun grenades, high-powered paint ball guns and fire from rubber-coated steel bullets.
 
  Commandos carried detailed diagrams of the layout of every boat with names and photos of VIPs on board.
 
 
Former U.S. Marine Ken O’Keefe said that the IHH leadership had a pre-arranged plan to defend the ship.
 
  

(The IDF spokesperson blog reported on 7 June that crew members of the Mavi Marmara had found militants using angle grinders to cut railings on the ship on the evening of 30 May for use as clubs.
 
 Steel rods were also removed from the ship’s lifeboats,
 along with chains from the access points.
 Captain Tuval sent ship’s officers to investigate this activity.  They retrieved some of the cut rods which he ordered to be dropped into the sea and confiscated the grinding gear which was put in the radio room on the bridge.  He said that it had been discussed many times that there should be no violence 



Nobody will fight, nobody will kick them.  I said many times, because I 
know the end.

.

Other Israeli documentation claims that a hard core of 40 volunteers joined the ship at Istanbul without security clearance.  Although catapults and the angle grinders came on board there is no evidence that any other weaponry did.  The use of makeshift weapons such as chairs
 suggests that a serious battle was never envisaged.)  
The large majority of the passengers were not involved in the fighting. Kevin Neish observed

They were humanitarian aid workers is what they were.  A lot of them were 
pot-bellied fellows, balding, glasses, looked a lot like me. They weren’t 
fighters.

He saw the militants preparing for battle, some wearing gas masks, one with a catapult and some with pieces of wood and metal pipes.  

[However Mr Neish has denied the following comments attributed to him in SPIEGELONLINE


It looked rather pitiful to me. Some of them had pulled things out of waste 
bins, wooden crates, batteries. Someone had even fished out a coconut.
]
IDF sources say that a briefing took place two hours before the fighting and Mr O’Keefe has said there was a call to defend the ship when it became apparent that Israeli forces were preparing to board. An Israeli source states that the head of IHH, Fahmi Bülent Yildirim, gave orders to beat back the soldiers and throw them into the sea.
 
 This is refuted by Ken O’Keefe who said they were instructed to arrest the soldiers,
 and by photographic evidence backed by the testimonies of Murat Akinan and Dr Uysal (below) that the captive soldiers were honourably treated on the orders of Mr Yildirim (in contrast to the treatment widely meted out by the IDF, described below). Israeli claims that the upper deck was sealed off to non-militants does not correspond with testimonies of non-violent activists who witnessed some of the shooting there.  Jamal Elshayyal had been allowed complete freedom of movement and had filmed ‘every single centimetre of the ship’ in Istanbul, Antalya and less than 24 hours before it was attacked.  He said that most passengers had been asked to remain below by the organisers, with only journalists and leading activists remaining above deck.

Many testified that the Israelis fired before commandos were attacked by militants:
· Arab-Israeli Member of the Knesset Hanin Zoabi said commandos fired from the zodiacs before the helicopters were over the ship. 
 
 (MK Zoabi like the majority of the passengers did not see any more because she was on a lower deck, hence she denies that passengers fought to defend the ship.
)  
· News producer Jamal Elshayyal saw live fire from the helicopter before the first commandos boarded.
 He said one of those killed was clearly shot from above.  Soldiers pointed their guns down through some sort of hatch in the helicopter and fired live ammunition indiscriminately.  Most of the fire from the sea was initially tear gas and sound grenades but then it became live fire.

· Kuwaiti MP Waleed Al-Tabtabaei said the killing of two unarmed Turkish men provoked the attack on the first soldiers rappelling on board.

· Kuwaiti lawyer Mubarak Al-Mutawa said 



Israeli commandos started shooting from the air without warning. 


They killed a number of volunteers even before landing aboard the 


ship.



· Ken O’Keefe said that two activists were already dead when he helped to disarm the first commandos that boarded the Mavi Marmara.
 
· Journalist Muna Shester said 


...a helicopter deployed men in black, armed from head to toe, who 


asked no questions and killed two Turkish men immediately.
  
· Alex Harrison and Huwaida Arraf were both on the upper deck of the Challenger I which was sailing less than a cable length (200 yards) on the port side of the Mavi Marmara when the attack started.
   
· Ms Harrison said commandos first tried to board the Mavi Marmara from the zodiacs but were repelled with fire hoses from the upper deck.  A helicopter then arrived and sound bombs and bullets were fired from it at the ship before the first commandos descended onto the deck.  She is unsure whether live or rubber-coated bullets were used.   
· Ms Arraf confirmed that shooting began before soldiers boarded the boat but is also unsure what type of ammunition was used.

· Fiachra Ó’Luain was on the bow of the Challenger I.  He said


…there was live gunfire straight away from below and from the 
helicopters. One of the men was shot in the head. Another man was 
shot with a bullet right between his eyes at point blank range.

Shane Dillon, who was also on the Challenger I said the fire fighting defences on the Mavi Marmara were activated, ‘as was normal during a pirate attack’, and that rubbish bins had been thrown from the deck.
  An Al Jazeera cameraman saw a group threatening soldiers with catapults, water pipes and sticks.
 Film footage shows militants using fire hoses on the zodiacs and dropping objects on to them.
  This appears to be after the commandos in the zodiacs had fired stun grenades, tear gas, rubber coated bullets and paint ball canisters (and live fire according to Mr Ó’Luain) at the ship.
  Attempts were made to board the ship from zodiacs using grappling hooks, but passengers threw the hooks back over the side.  A lot of bullets were fired: Fatima Mohammad said at some stage before the commandos boarded this changed from rubber-coated bullets to live fire.
 Jamal Elshayyal said the live fire started after about five minutes.
 
Many of the non-violent activists have supported the defence on the Mavi Marmara against disproportionate and lethal violence initiated by the IDF.  Swedish historian Matthias Gardell said


It is not as if Israel is a police officer who no human being has the legitimate 
right to defend him or herself against.  If you are attacked by commando troops 
you of course must have the right to defend yourself [...] Many people on this 
ship thought they were going to kill everyone. They were very frightened [...] 
It's strange if people think one should not defend oneself. Should you just sit 
there and say: 'Kill me'? 

German Parliamentarian Annette Groth told the Free Gaza Team


The Israeli claim that its commandos acted in self-defence was ridiculous.  It 
was like war.  They had guns, taser weapons, some type of teargas and other 
weaponry, compared to two-and-a-half wooden sticks we had between us. To 
talk of self-defence is ridiculous.

In response to the Israelis’ lethal fire a mêlée of perhaps 30 to 40 militants attacked and seized the first commandos rappelling onto the upper deck from helicopters.
 The militants were particularly keen to stop the commandos from disabling the ship’s transmission antennae situated on that deck.
  Ken O’Keefe helped to disarm two commandos, taking a pistol and removing the live 9mm lead bullets which he gave to another activist.
  He said one commando was trying to reach his weapon.  ‘I had no doubt that if he got to it before I did I’d be dead’.
 An assault rifle taken from the other commando was thrown into the sea.
 
 IHH chief Bülent Yildirim confirmed that activists grabbed weapons from the commandos and corroborated that they were thrown into the sea.
 (On the Israeli video footage items which could be weapons can be seen being thrown overboard.
 The IDF website reported on 31 May that ‘two violent activists’ were apprehended carrying IDF pistols which had apparently been fired because their magazines were empty,
 but no forensic evidence was cited to support the claim that the guns had been used, or that militants had fired them.)  Mr O’Keefe flatly denies that anyone from the ship fired any Israeli weapon.
 Mubarak Al-Mutawa told a reporter 


I assure you that no one from the aid volunteers had any firearms. We had no 
other weapons, except kitchenware, and the volunteers did not start any 
resistance.

Jamal Elshayyal had filmed the entire ship three times and was convinced there were no firearms on board.
 Jamal Dajani has pointed out that the helicopter’s infrared cameras would have easily recorded the flashes caused by gun discharges (and would also have recorded how and when the activists were shot) but this information has never been released.
 
One of the pistols was left on the floor in the lounge were many of the wounded were taken where it was disregarded.  Soldiers found it there and put it in one of the bags and then filmed a staged discovery (of a standard issue Israeli pistol).

(No details of the commandos’ injuries have yet been released. If commandos have suffered gunshot wounds this could have been from Israeli friendly fire.) One soldier was almost thrown into the sea, but some other activists prevented this,
 but IDF video footage does show at least one soldier being pushed over the side of the upper deck and dropped to the deck below (about 4.8 metres at that point).

Three commandos captured by the militants had feared for their lives.
 Kevin Neish saw a big Turk try to hit one of the commandos but he was pushed off by Turkish aid workers who protected the soldier
 and took him to the middle deck where photographs (Fig. 2) show medical aid was administered by Dr Hasan Huseyn Uysal.  (Hassan Ghani said they were taken below out of harm’s way.
) 
[image: image4.jpg]
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Dr Uysal explained in a telephone interview


…the Israeli soldiers were brought to me to check their medical situation and 
treat them properly. I had our dead bodies and injured people lying in front of 
me and I was treating the soldiers that actually killed and wounded them. 
None of our friends in the centre approached to harm or hurt them. 
 
 

Dr Uysal said the commandos ‘were very startled and very scared’.  One had suffered a cut which reached his stomach membrane but not the organ itself.  Dr Uysal had been unable to stitch it because he had no stitching material with him.  Murat Akinan (who is standing next to Dr Uysal in the photo, Fig. 2) said that he had been directly ordered by Bülent Yildirim to take responsibility for the wellbeing of the commando.  The two other soldiers were subsequently brought in and Mr Akinan had ensured that they were not harmed despite the reactions of some of the people around them.  During his interrogation at Ashdod it had been admitted that he had acted ‘with goodwill’ towards the captive in his care.
 The soldiers were freed when the Mavi Marmara surrendered.

A second wave of 15-20 commandos arrived in a larger (Blackhawk) helicopter, firing as they descended.
 
 
 
  Fatima Mohammadi who was then on the upper deck said a cameraman about two metres from her was shot twice in the arm.
 He was wailing in pain and lost a profuse amount of blood so she applied a tourniquet.  Below on the fifth deck ‘soldiers were shooting in every direction’.
  
Iara Lee said


We expected them to shoot people in the legs, to shoot in the air, just to 
scare people, but they were direct.  Some of them shot in the passengers' 
heads. Many people were murdered – it was unimaginable.
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Soldiers beat people with batons. Moroccan MP Abdelqader Amara said soldiers hit victims with their rifle butts before shooting them dead.
 (A claim by Idris Simsek that four wounded activists were thrown into the sea is unsubstantiated.
)  On the Captain’s deck, Fahmi Bülent Yildirim took off his shirt which was waved outside as a white flag of surrender, but Nurfitri Moeslim Taher said the shooting did not abate.
 (Idris Simsek said the person waving the white flag was shot.
)  Jamal Elshayyal and Sarah Colborne confirm that shooting continued after the white flag was raised (Mr Elshayyal said with live ammunition).
 
 Resistance from the ship ceased immediately after the captain announced over the tannoy that the invaders had taken over the bridge.  Everyone put down their weapons and walked quietly down to the lounges.
 Fatima Mohammad said that continuous appeals over the public address system for a cease fire in Hebrew, Arabic, Turkish and English had gone unheeded for one and a half hours.
 

Victims reported atrocities and widespread shooting by the soldiers.  Many were shot at close range. 

· Mehmet Yildirim reported that a friend with a bullet wound to his hand was lying on the deck.  Soldiers went over to him and fired two bullets in his back, turned him over and put two more rounds in his chest.  The victim moaned in pain for two hours.
 

· Muharren Güneş said from close range soldiers determined with their laser sights that he had not been shot so they shot him in the left cheek.  He has lost six teeth on that side.
· Mustapha Batuman reported being shot from a range of about one metre.  
· Sadreddin Furkan who was in the control centre on the bridge said the soldiers were shooting in all directions.  He felt a deep pain in his leg which began bleeding.  He had been shot behind, three times in the leg and once in the foot.
  
Yücel Velioglu said that journalists had given the soldiers a clear explanation of how to get into the press office, but they had deliberately broken down one of the locked doors instead.  Inside the office they had aimed the lasers on their guns at the journalists’ eyes for about 45 minutes in order to intimidate them.
 

After the soldiers took control of the ship Dr Uysal was treated like all the other passengers.  He was handcuffed tightly and made to kneel for three hours.  Because his shoulder hurt he shouted to the soldiers who ignored him at first.  They later released his hands but not those of the captives with him.  He was not allowed to go to the toilet. 
 Laura Stuart was tending some of the seriously wounded when soldiers arrived and told her that she had to leave them and go with them or be shot.  She was then searched and handcuffed.
 
4.2 Israeli accounts of the raid
A report by the Israeli NGO Intelligence and Terrorism Information Center (ITIC) described a hard core of IHH operatives who boarded the ship at Istanbul without security checks.  This group wore ceramic vests and gas masks and armed themselves with a large quantity of weapons prepared from equipment found on board (including kitchen knives, fire axes and various items used as clubs) in preparation for a violent confrontation with Israeli forces.  [The only items that might be classed as bona fide weapons mentioned in this report are one switch-blade knife and a number of catapults.]  The report alleged political motives for the support of the convoy by the government of Prime Minister Tayyip Erdogan.  It further alleged that exceptionally large sums of money had been carried by many of the operatives which in all probability was intended to be transferred to Hamas.
 Another report by the same organization published on 20 June
 denounced most of those killed in the raid as ‘thugs’ and claims that the ‘violent confrontation [was] initiated by the IHH’ without making any attempt to justify this serious allegation.  The report carries an assumption that the IDF acted legally and properly throughout, contrary to most verifiable evidence.  
A video
 released by the IDF through the ITIC shows film of varying quality taken from the ship’s security cameras along with some of that stolen from activists.  It shows militants cutting metal clubs from the ship’s railings, convening meetings for the defence of the ship, with many wearing gas masks and most wearing life vests.  None appear to be wearing ceramic bullet proof vests.  The video includes previously released footage of the fighting on the upper deck, and a poor quality sequence where is soldier is stabbed with a knife.  Significantly the video does not show any footage of Israeli soldiers shooting activists (militant or otherwise) despite the IDF having stolen such evidence.  Neither does it show any militant attempting to use a firearm.  This latter point claimed by the IDF remains unsubstantiated.
Amos Harel wrote up an IDF version of the boarding in Haaretz on 4 June.  The account is based on testimony from unnamed naval commandos employed in the raid, including a Lt. Colonel said to be in charge of the Shayetet 13 naval commando unit involved, and Navy commander Vice Admiral Eliezer Marom who was also present at the time of the attack.  In this version the attack began at 4.30 am when four commandos rappelled on deck where they were attacked by militants with bars, axes and knives.  One militant who was holding a gun to the head of a commando was shot by the fourth commando to land on the deck.  Three commandos had lost consciousness and were dragged into the passenger halls below deck where they were held for several minutes, but they escaped upon regaining consciousness.  An unnamed navy officer said of the militants


They were terrorists - hired killers who came to murder soldiers, not to assist 
the residents of the Gaza Strip.
The commandos reported that they had been fired upon and that ‘at least two’ 
 had suffered gunshot wounds.  Nine millimetre bullet casings were later found on the deck but the commandos deny using this ammunition. 
Wounded activists are reported to have been airlifted to Israel for treatment, thereby saving the lives of some of the seriously injured.  (This was verified by several Turkish casualties, although others casualties are reported to have bled to death untended – see section 3.4)
A ‘senior officer’ is reported as saying


Under the circumstances, and I do not like the result, I think we did the best 
we could. We took care of five ships without injuries. On the sixth ship, we 
faced a harsh attack and killed nine saboteurs. No real peace activist was 
injured. No soldier was killed, even though it came pretty close. In the end the 
ships are docked at Ashdod. It was very complicated and the result is near 
perfect. 

[There are important discrepancies between these accounts and testimonies recorded by activists on video and by the press. 
i. Statements by IDF personnel that the injured commandos lost consciousness and were dragged away are refuted by good quality photographs of the three men conscious in captivity.  Two of them appear to be walking wounded.
ii. It is also inconceivable that the passengers would have attempted or would have been permitted to carry out these acts of clemency if a commando had indeed been present next to his colleagues in possession of a smoking gun
iii. The claim by a ‘senior officer’ that five ships were taken without injuries and that ‘no real peace activist’ was injured directly contradicts the many reports (including the testimony of a former U.S. Ambassador) of injuries caused by unprovoked Israeli violence. It also infers, without any justification, that all of the many casualties the Mavi Marmara were not real peace activists. 
iv. The claim that commandos did not use 9mm ammunition is not credible considering
· The Turkish council of forensic medicine reported that all but one of 
the 30 bullets retrieved from the bodies of the victims were 9mm 
rounds.
 
· Ken O’Keefe has also stated (see section above) that he removed 9mm 
bullets from a pistol taken from one of the commandos.

· All IDF standard issue pistols mentioned in Wikipedia use 9mm 
cartridges.
  
The IDF has the biggest responsibility to verify its claims since it attempted to take control of all the documentation and is in possession of by far the biggest proportion of it.  Despite this it has given false accounts about the captured soldiers, while denying well attributed reports of widespread gratuitous violence on the smaller vessels. The selected footage released so far does not help to explain how any of the activists were injured.  Because of the lack of veracity and an apparent intention to deceive, the IDF versions of events must be read with extreme caution.]
Ron Ben Yishai was told by commandos that they were to verbally convince activists to give up and only use paintballs as the next resort.  Several witnesses attest to the attack on the flotilla beginning on the Mavi Marmara with stun grenades, tear gas, paintballs, and rubber-coated bullets.  Film footage shows firing from zodiacs before the ship was boarded.
 From this evidence one must assume that the commandos were either disobeying orders, or more likely, were giving Mr Ben Yishai propaganda which he accepted too readily.  In consequence it is unreasonable to accept Mr Ben Yishai’s uncorroborated account that the commandos were fired on by an activist with a rifle.  His account that one commando was thrown onto a lower deck (Mr Ben Yishai suggests a fall of 30 feet, but examination of the photos suggests 16 feet, or 4.8 metres is more likely) is verified by IDF video footage.  He reports that after this, permission was sought and granted to use live fire need further consideration.
  (The timing of this initial use of live fire is considered in the Commentary, section 4, below.)
Noam Sheizaf explained that since the Gilad Shalit kidnapping there is a standing order in Israel not to allow any IDF soldier to be captured alive, even if it means risking his life.  This might explain the embarrassment of the IDF over the capture of three of its soldiers and the fantastic stories spun around the episode.  Mr Sheizaf quotes an unofficial account in which two of the injured commandos escaped by jumping overboard.  The lowest open deck is about eight metres above the water and the commandos were inappropriately clothed and not in a fit condition to jump into the open sea at night, hoping to be found.
 
An article in the Jerusalem Post on 4 June described the activities of Staff-Sergeant S who claims to have shot dead six of the nine known fatalities.
  Because the report contradicts details of other testimonies it has been rejected as not credible.  (This is further discussed in the Commentary, section 5, below.)
A BBC report of 3 June records Israeli soldiers describing the early events on the Mavi Marmara as a ‘lynch’.  One anonymous soldier said


At this point, I didn't even have a weapon in my hands. Any soldier coming 
down the ropes did not have a gun in his hands. We were empty-handed, our 
guns were on our backs.


It's important to clarify that the weapons were riot dispersal means, we had 
paintball guns.


They just came prepared for battle. We came prepared to straighten things 
out, talk to them, convince them to unboard [sic] the ship.

[This account of soldiers arriving on deck empty-handed appears to contradict Amos Harel’s account where the fourth soldier landing on the deck shot a militant holding a gun.  The soldier said their weapons were ‘riot dispersal means’ and yet they were effectively quelling a riot, not fighting well-armed professional troops.  Significantly the BBC reporter failed to consider the main question: why and how were there so many civilian casualties?  And the supplementary: why did nine corpses contain 30 rounds (see section 3.3 below) if the soldiers were only intent on ‘riot dispersal’?]
During the raid the IDF is reported by activists to have extensively used high-powered paint ball guns, stun grenades, smoke bombs, tear gas, tasers, rubber bullets, dogs, semi-automatic pistols and automatic carbines with live ammunition, as well as clubbing and kicking their victims.  In a Jerusalem Post article of 1 June entitled ‘Next time we’ll use more force’ a ‘top Navy commander’ was quoted as saying

We boarded the ship and were attacked as if it was a war.  That will mean 
that we will have to come prepared in the future as if it was a war.

4.3 Casualties

Nine men in total are known to have been killed, all but one of whom had been shot more than once; five were shot in the head. In total the nine victims had been shot 30 times.  Furkan Dogan, a 19-year-old American medical student, was shot five times at a range of less than 45 cm.
  Dr Arief Rachman tried to treat a man who had been shot between the eyes at close range while the bullet caused a large hole at the back of his head through which parts of his brain had exited.
  Another of those killed is reported to have been holding a camera when he too was shot in the temple, possibly in a targeted sniper assassination.
  There is an unsubstantiated report  that the press coordinator, Cevdet Kiliçlar, was summarily executed at point blank range in the press room,
 but other accounts by passengers on the Mavi Marmara that he was the first to die, shot in the head on an outer deck, are more credible.
 
 The death toll might yet be higher as six people are still not accounted for,
 (although some now suggest that the missing people may have been Israeli spies.
) 
No definitive casualty list has been found to date and the different accounts are contradictory.

· Ynet reported on 1 June that there were 37 activists in Israeli hospitals,
 although this was never officially confirmed

· The Attorney General’s Office released information on 2 June: 

· 17 people were in an Israel Prison Service medical facility.

· 24 were in various hospitals across the country.

· 23 of the injured were considered medically fit to leave the country. 

· [This suggests that 18 people had injuries that prevented them from travelling.  No further details were released by the authorities.  However Adalah later reported that it was able to gain access to ‘three of the seven remaining wounded (as of 3 June)’.
]
· On 6 June Ewa Jasiewicz announced that fifteen activists were reported to be in Israeli hospitals with no details released about their injuries.
  No source was given, but Ms Jasiewicz is part of the Free Gaza Movement.

· Matthias Jochheim, a German doctor who had been on the ship, said that there were ‘at least’ 50 people badly injured.  He had heard there were 15 killed in total, mostly from gunshot wounds.
 

· An IHH press release dated 3 June reported that 19 people were ‘treated’ in Ankara, five persons had been in hospital in Israel and 31 had been discharged from hospital in Istanbul.
 This list covers mostly Turkish casualties and is not likely to be exhaustive.  
· Indonesian journalist Surya Fachrizal was reported to be in hospital in Jordan on 9 June recovering from a bullet wound to the chest.
   

Dr Fintan Lane was shown a severe dog bite on an activist at Ashdod.

Israeli military statements have variously described six, seven and ten of their commandos receiving injuries, two of them seriously.
 
 One soldier is reported to have a serious head wound from having been dropped between decks.
  On June 4 the Free Gaza Movement reported that three Israeli soldiers were still in hospital.
  No official report has been published detailing the injuries sustained by the Israeli soldiers, so it is not known if any of them received knife or bullet wounds.  To date no photographs have been published to show blood stained knives (or axes or hammers) although there have been many allegations, by Prime Minister Benjamin Netanyahu amongst others, that such weapons were used.  

4.4 Care of the injured and detainees on board the captured ship

The doctors worked desperately to help the critically injured amid terrible scenes of blood and chaos.  The ship had been totally unprepared for the carnage and medical staff had been forced to use equipment intended for Gaza.  The most critically injured had been laid out on the third deck where people had to step over them to get to other casualties.  One man who had been shot in the side of the head also had a large head wound from falling down.  Passengers used several towels to soak up the blood from his injuries.
 
There were 39 injured in one lounge with doctors operating on some of them without anaesthetic and some screaming in pain.  Soldiers gave Osama Qashoo five minutes to evacuate the lounge.  He had tried to reason with them and had managed to get the time extended to ten minutes.  The soldiers had said they would not enter the room because they knew there were guns there but they would send in three dogs that were trained to bite.  Most of the patients were moved out but fifteen remained who were carried out on sleeping bags and blankets when a request for a stretcher was refused.  A doctor vehemently protested about the removal of a patient he was working on but the patient had been dropped screaming into a blanket and taken to the helicopter.  Osama had then been used as a human shield to open doors to back rooms and to open bags.
 
As no medical equipment was available to treat the wounded requests for medical assistance were made over the ship’s public address system and by a hand written sign in Hebrew.  Soldiers told the people with the sign to get lost.
  A British citizen carried the same sign and a British flag to different soldiers at a different window and was met with a similar response.
 Sarah Colborne later told a press conference that requests to IDF personnel for medical assistance were ignored and that medical personnel accompanying the wounded were handcuffed and separated from their charges.
 An activist who asked that medical staff could stay with the wounded was told to shut her mouth.
 Three of the critically wounded died within three hours, having been refused medical help from the IDF.
 Hanin Zoabi said two bled to death after soldiers refused to help.
 
Ahmed Luqman said he was just trying to get into his cabin when he was shot in the knee and the upper leg, severing the femoral artery.  He said he was left on the ground to ‘just friggin’ bleed’. He was refused medical attention and made to walk unassisted up the stairs, during which he passed out three or four times.  After he was injured soldiers kicked him and picked him up and dropped him.
 His condition was so bad as a result of the high blood loss that he was one of the last activists to be deported.
  
Matthias Gardel was horrified by the experience of seeing a badly wounded man in his late 50s forced to remain on the open deck.  


Suddenly, his right eye exploded in a gush of blood - and a blob of something 
fell out of it.
 
But some of the seriously wounded activists were taken out by helicopter.  This included Ismail Yeşildal who was wounded near his spinal cord, in the shoulder and in his genitals,  Revaha Gümrükçü who was shot in the leg, Kenan Akçil and Adem Bakici
 who both had knee injuries and Muharren Güneş who was shot in the mouth (the bullet exited his neck).  Mehmet Ali Zeybek was hit nine times by rubber-coated bullets, his blood stained clothes were removed and he was left shackled and naked on the hot deck for an hour before being air lifted to Haifa.

Once the soldiers took control of the ship all passengers had their hands tied behind their backs until Ashdod was reached nine hours later.
  Sarah Colborne said it was terrifying ‘if you talked they pointed a gun at you’.
 Many were forced to stand handcuffed for five hours in the sun.  One Malaysian passenger whose hands were tied so tight that they had become brightly coloured asked politely for the bands to be loosened.  In response to his third request a soldier tightened them even more causing the victim to scream with pain.
  The cuffs on Kevin Neish were so tight that they cut his wrists, his hands swelled up and turned purple, and he suffered prolonged nerve damage.

Osama Qashoo lost the feeling in four fingers which a doctor said would take six months to heal.  His handcuffs had been applied to be intentionally painful and they had been left on for sixteen hours.  He had been made to kneel with two metal bars under his knees and left near the door where every passing soldier would kick or spit at him, pour water on him or step on his toes.  A plastic bag had been put on his head after he had started screaming.

Exceptionally, Laura Stuart had her handcuffs removed and she was allowed to move around the deck to attend to three casualties who were not considered to need an airlift.  At her request the handcuffs on her wounded charges were changed from behind to the front, but they were not allowed to go to the toilet.
 Another request to get a severely shocked casualty to hospital was ignored.  An Israeli doctor had looked at the injured man who had two drips installed.  The doctor had insisted on taking them out to put in one of his own which did not work, so he had taken that out and declared that the patient did not need a drip.
 
Jamal Elshayyal was given no food and only three sips of water in a period of more than 24 hours.  He asked to use the toilet and was told to urinate in his clothes.  Many people were forced to soil their clothing in this way.
 
  Heavily-armed soldiers, some with blood on their boots, stood guard with dogs, sometimes exchanging jokes and lewd suggestions about female detainees.
 Two women had to use the toilet while still in handcuffs.
 
 Sheikh Jalal Al-Sharqi said they were not allowed to pray.
 The Israelis told the detainees to be quiet but at one point a Turkish imam stood up and started singing the call to prayer.  An officer strode through the squatting people, put a pistol to the imam’s head and yelled ‘shut up’ in English.  The imam looked at him and kept singing.  Fearful that the officer would shoot Kevin Neish stood up and the officer turned and pointed the pistol at him.  The imam finished his song and they both sat down.
  

Even at Ashdod some people were kept on board in handcuffs until at least 6 am on 1 June.
  Jamal Elshayyal said his hands were not untied until after the medical at Ashdod.

5.0 The attacks on the four other passenger vessels

Sources on both sides unanimously agree that there was no violent resistance on the other five vessels (or during the subsequent assault on the Rachel Corrie).  Israel’s Foreign Minister Avigdor Lieberman said that activists on these vessels escaped without a scratch
 while Benjamin Netanyahu said on 5 June that 

…in five of the six vessels in the previous flotilla [the boarding] procedure 
ended without casualties.

 There is widespread testimony and other evidence to refute these statements.

· Edward Pett told BBC’s PM radio programme on 1 June that an American on his boat had been hospitalized following a beating.
· Many reported aggressive behaviour by the commandos including Ewa Jasiewicz to whom a soldier said ‘fuck you; fucking bitch, I’ll kill you’.

· 
Kuwaiti politician Walid al-Tabtabai said 

The Israelis roughed up and humiliated all of us: women, men and children.  They were brutal and arrogant…

· In a rather bizarre episode retired American professor Paul Larudee put on a life jacket and jumped into the sea to avoid capture.  He was picked up by a patrol craft 30 minutes later and taken to prison bruised and cut and with a black eye.

5.1 MV Eleftheri Mesogeio (‘Free Mediterranean’)
· Captain Mihalis Grigoropoulos said commandos came on board using tear gas and live ammunition.
  People trying to form a human shield were attacked with rubber bullets and tasers.  After the arrests the captives were mistreated, not allowed to use the toilet, given no food or water and videoed by their captors contrary to international conventions.
 Medicines were taken away from doctors on board.

· Italian journalist Marcello Faraggi said there were three journalists and 26 other passengers aboard the boat.  They were first attacked at about 4.30 am by helicopters dropping smoke bombs.  Soldiers boarded them about 6.30 am.   Activists who refused to surrender were hit, targeted by the rifle laser sights and handcuffed with plastic straps.  He had been filming but the soldiers stopped him and took the camera along with the cassettes, telling him that he could have it back later.  One cassette was later returned to him at Ashdod.
 

5.2 MV Challenger I 
· The Challenger I had taken off from the flotilla at 22 knots in an attempt to break free, but had been forced to slow down by loss of oil pressure to the engines.  It had been followed by corvettes which approached using a spotlight and illumination flares.

· One of the warships approached as though it was going to ram (reminding Alex Harrison of the ramming of the MV Dignity in December 2008).  She said rubber bullets were fired before they were boarded, and many passengers were hit.
 
· Huwaida Arraf told CNN that her head had been banged on the deck after which she was handcuffed and hooded.
 (Shane Dillon said that as Chair of the Free Gaza Movement, Ms Arraf seemed to have been picked out for special attention.
)  On BBC Newsnight she said the soldiers had beaten many on the ship and one volunteer ended up with a bloody face.
 The door to the main body of the boat was locked and activists were attempting to block the way.  The soldiers beat people out of the way and kicked in the glass door.

· Theresa McDermott saw a Belgian woman named Margarita hit in the face by a projectile which burst her nose causing heavy bleeding. She also saw Huwaida and a Dutch woman, who tried to block the stairs, thrown to the ground, their hands cuffed with plastic ties that cut into their wrists and their faces pushed on to the deck that was full of broken glass. When Theresa shouted and tried to get to the two women a soldier put his pistol to her head and said he would shoot her if she did not do as she was told. 

· Alex Harrison said two women who were hooded also had their eyes taped.  Despite the activists using only non-violent obstruction, the commandos still used violence.
 An 80-year-old man was not allowed to go to the toilet and was forced to urinate in his clothes.

· Photographer Kate Geraghty said the attack was ‘pretty full on’.
  She was tasered on the upper arm during the boarding of the same boat,
 which caused her to be thrown a metre and a half and collapse vomiting on the deck.
 She yelled that she and Paul McGeough (also on the Challenger I at the time) were from the Sydney Morning Herald and was answered by a commando speaking English with an Australian accent saying ‘We know you’re from the Herald’.
· Paul McGeough spoke of  



…men with zip ties on their wrists, on their knees for hours, denied 


permission to go to the toilet, forced to soil their pants, women 



pleading to be able to give drinks to men…

· Fintan Lane saw Fiachra Ó Luain dragged around the deck.  He himself had a gun pointed in his face by a screaming commando so that he genuinely feared for his life.

· On 3 June Shane Dillon gave testimony to Ireland’s Foreign Affairs Committee.  He said there was no resistance on the boat and unlike the Mavi Marmara they did not turn their hoses on the commandos.  He said the commandos had used stun guns, hit people with their rifle butts, pushed people onto the deck and stood on them, used high-powered paintball guns and smashed windows.   (Israel’s Ambassador to Ireland, Dr Zion Evrony, declined to go before the committee to answer questions.  Sein Féin President Gerry Adams called for Dr Evrony to be expelled from Ireland in response.)
  At a press conference Mr Dillon had said that after boarding the Challenger I the soldiers had initially focussed their attention on the journalists in order to seize any evidence.

· The passengers were eventually all put in the lounge where their handcuffs were removed.  At this point when everything was calm and the activists were allowed to drink water an IDF soldier started filming.  When the vessel arrived at Ashdod the soldiers wanted the activists to be escorted gently off but they refused to go because they had been taken to Israel against their will.  They were threatened with tasers to make them disembark, but in the end they had been carried off.

5.3 MV Sofia

· Henning Mankell saw the Israeli forces attacked sleeping civilians.
 He said that one man was shot with a taser and another with a rubber bullet because they did not move fast enough. The soldiers then checked the boat and one soon returned saying they had found weapons.



I have 24 witnesses to this, he showed me my razor, a one-time use razor, 
and a box cutter he'd found in the kitchen.


He believes the Israeli military went out to commit murder saying ‘This was Israel’s choice to do this’.

· Dror Feiler said that he had tried to talk with the Israeli soldiers but was beaten up.

5.4 MV Sfendoni
· Dimitris Gielalis said commandos used plastic bullets and tasers and had beaten people.

· Bilal Abdulazziz said the violence was ‘unbelievable’, with soldiers using stun guns and batons against activists who were merely locking arms.  He had been tasered to the head, legs and back and he had seen older people beaten.

· Irishman Al Mahdi Alharati said he was hit with rubber bullets in the leg, beaten in the groin and over the head, hit with the back of a gun in the eye and hit with the butt of a machine gun on the back of the head.  Mr Alharati has a heart condition and diabetes, and was taken to hospital in Ankara upon his arrival in Turkey.  He was able to return to Ireland on 8 June.

· Gene St Onge was thrown to the deck a couple of times.  He then tried repeatedly to protect Mr Alharati who was writhing in pain on the deck while still being continuously kicked.  Mr. St Onge who was kicked and hit with a ‘rifle or something’ suffering a gash on his head.  He was then restrained with handcuffs.  He said their captain, who was pulled and hit, sustained a punctured ear drum along with neck and back injuries.
 
· Former U.S. Ambassador Ed Peck said that as a result of the non-violent resistance outside the wheelhouse some people had been roughly treated by the commandos.  Some had needed crutches, bandages and arm slings, while the captain had needed a neck brace. 
· U.S. Navy vet Joe Meadors is a survivor of the 1967 Israeli attack on the USS Liberty.  He commented

I am fully aware of the tactics the Israelis are capable of and willing to use with impunity and without remorse. That time they fired machine guns, cannon, rockets, napalm, and torpedoes on us, then deliberately machine-gunned life rafts we had dropped over the side in anticipation of abandoning ship. And the only response from the American government was to impose a gag order on the crew of the USS Liberty. This time too the Israelis have shown no remorse, and I fear that the US government is again granting them impunity.

· Television journalist Manolo Luppichini saw two people hurt by tasers.  The soldiers seized two cameras, microphones, a stand and equipment belonging to him along with his wallet, passport, bag and all his personal effects.

6.0 Treatment of the detainees

At Ashdod the detainees were jeered and photographed by a large crowd of off-duty military personnel.
  All the time they were filmed, especially when they were given food.  All the time they were humiliated, shouted at and whistled at.
 Doctors examined them but never really treated them and dismissed bruising on victims as mosquito bites.
  Henning Mankell said they were split up and not allowed to talk.  He saw detainees periodically knocked to the ground, tied up and handcuffed.
  He saw a man who refused to be fingerprinted beaten and dragged off.  Mr Mankell was charged with entering the country illegally to which he replied ‘That's absurd, you brought me here’.
 Dr Finton Lane would not give up his passport, telling the officials that he had been brought to a country he did not want to go to.  In response two men twisted his arm painfully behind his back for prolonged periods
 and his passport was taken.  He was charged with illegally entering Israel. 

Passengers on the Sfendoni had been told only to take passports and medicines when they left the vessel.  Bilal Abdulazziz had not removed the money belt he was wearing (containing £3,500 for poor people in Gaza).  In the detention centre he had been told to lift up his clothes.  When officials had seen his money belt they ran away, suspecting that he was a suicide bomber.
  
Muna Shester of the Kuwait News Agency reported that a photographer who criticised the soldiers was taken to one side and beaten.  Ms Shester said she could hear his cries.  She said the broadcast media journalists were identifiable by their press vests so they were grouped, searched, handcuffed and left in the sun for five hours.  All their personal effects except passports and money were taken.  The Israelis promised to return their property but they were lying.  But they were treated reasonably at Be’er Sheva detention centre and were given food.

Mediha Olgun is a Turkish journalist with the daily Sabah.  She was given a full search which even cut into the heels of her shoes, discovering photographs that she had concealed.  Her laptop and mobile phone were taken but she was allowed to keep her passport.  

Ayse Sarioglu is a Turkish journalist with the daily Taraf.  At Ashdod she was interrogated and humiliated by a policeman (although a female officer was very polite).  The policeman spat on her, insulted her and even pulled her tongue.  She was very closely searched including between her toes, in her hair, behind the gums and under the tongue.  On the first day she was permitted to talk to her family on the phone for only one minute.  On the second day she was contacted by embassy officials, and she was deported the next day.

Marcello Faraggi was forced to undress at the same time as four or five others, which he found humiliating.  He was squeezed into a truck with other prisoners in which they had to wait for more than an hour in the sun without air conditioning.  In prison at Be’er Sheva he was given a few raw vegetables, some drinking water, soap and shampoo.  He saw a representative from the embassy on 1 June.
  

Izzeddine Zahrour said the authorities


…deprived us of food, water and sleep, and we weren’t allowed to use the toilet.  
It was an ugly kidnapping, and subsequently bad treatment in Israeli jail.  They 
handcuffed us, pushed us around and humiliated us.

Laura Stuart said many things were done to make the detainees as uncomfortable as possible.  After spending hours in the hot sun on the ship they were put in closed prison vans with the air conditioning set very high to make it uncomfortably cold.  The vans were driven madly at speed with frequent heavy braking.

Detainees were required to sign Hebrew-only statements (which most did not understand) saying they regretted attacking the state of Israel.  People who refused were beaten and threatened with prosecution.  Some of those beaten were given injections to calm them down if they began to shake, after which they were often beaten again.  Greek activists were eventually placed in cells without windows where the light was constantly on and where they were given limited amounts of water but no food.  Israeli officials laughed at them when they asked to see Greek diplomatic staff, and responded more aggressively.  The only detainees they saw being visited by embassy officials were American citizens,
 although Scott Hamman saw two Americans beaten by Israeli officials when they refused to sign the deportation documents without having access to a lawyer.
 Australian journalists also reported being denied consular access and legal representation.
 
British consular staff were kept waiting for hours before they were allowed to see detainees.
 (Several detainees have expressed dissatisfaction about the inadequate attention provided by British diplomats compared with other diplomatic corps.  Most never saw a British consular official.
 
 
 
 
 
 )  Jamal Elshayyal was not allowed to make a phone call and did not see a lawyer or anyone from the British consulate during his detention of more than 24 hours.  (Lawyers from Adameer, the Palestinian prisoner’s support association, came in the afternoon.)  He was put in a cell roughly 3.6 m by 2.7 m with three others.  They were given one meal of frozen bread with some potatoes, but there was not enough food to go round.
  He believes he was only released because there was a standoff when Turkish government planes refused to leave until all detainees were set free.
 

Canadian Rifat Audeh said


They confiscated everything and then they took us to jail after that.  They cut 
us off from the outside world. We couldn't call a lawyer, our families, we 
couldn't call anybody. Nobody knew whether we were dead or alive until we 
were finally released.

Israeli officials knew where Canadian citizens were located but did not tell Canadian embassy staff who had to check all cells.  While searching for Kevin Neish they discovered two other Canadian nationals who they had not been informed of.
  Fintan Lane did not accept the authority of prison officers.  He was selected for a committee set up by the prisoners as representatives.
  
After it was discovered that Lubna Masarwa is an Arab-Israeli citizen she was held in isolation and subjected to strip searches four times a day.  She was brought to court in a small metal box inside a police car in which she was held for eight hours with her hands and legs shackled.  Detainees were charged with various activities from attacking soldiers to carrying weapons, but following international pressure the Israeli authorities decided to rapidly deport all foreign prisoners.  All Arab Israelis were taken back before the court which placed them under house arrest and forbade them to leave the country for 45 days.

Fiachra Ó’Luain had tried to fight his deportation through the Israeli legal system.  (The Israel High Court of Justice only agreed to hear challenges to the deportation orders two hours before the planned departure of the planes.  Detainees were told that they could appeal in absentia.
)  In custody he had feared for his life and at one stage had asked to see a Rabbi.  He was told he would only see a Rabbi when they killed him.  On the way to the airport he was taken off the bus and kicked and punched on the ground by between 15 and 20 Israelis.  They put his arm in stress positions and tried to break his finger.  On arrival in Turkey he was given treatment in hospital although his injuries were not thought to be serious.
  
(Israeli lawyers had challenged the legality of the capture in the Israel Supreme Court which had raised the possibility that the court would order the IDF to release the detainees and the ships, and allow them to proceed.  The IDF rapidly deported the detainees to forestall this.
) 
Libyan-born Irishman Al Mahdi al Harati was first able to contact his family on 3 June from the Ataturk Hospital in Ankara.  He had been beaten in the head and the groin while in Israeli custody and was being treated in intensive care.  He was expected to be discharged after two to three days.
 The Irish Ambassador to Israel said on 2 June that four of the five Irish prisoners held in Be’er Sheva prison had been ‘roughed up’ in one form or another.

British citizen Paveen Yaqub said she was kicked and mocked in Hebrew by two Israeli policemen who also searched her, which she declined to talk about to reporters.  She had refused to sign the document in Hebrew and had gone on hunger strike for the last few hours, saying that she had not slept for days and was exhausted.
  Dr Larudee who had jumped ship to evade capture was also beaten because he would not sign documents.  He said


I was treated pretty rough.  Basically any part of my body that could be hit was 
hit; any joint of my body that could be twisted was twisted.

Huwaida Arraf was pulled by her hair, hands and feet and beaten (including being punched in the face and the jaw) to get her into a police van. Somewhere outside of the port of Ashdod the van stopped and she was thrown out.  She thinks she then passed out but remembers a medic taking her to an ambulance and then onto hospital from where she was discharged a few hours later.
  On her eventual release she was elbowed in the face by a police officer on her way out of prison.

Kevin Neish spent three days in Israeli custody and did not sleep for a total of four days during which time he lost 15 pounds.  At one point he broke down and wept.  When one of the Turks asked what was wrong he replied ‘sixteen people died’.  The Turk responded

‘No, they died for a wonderful cause.  They’re happy.  You just go out and tell 
your story.’
  
Çigdem Topçuoglu’s husband Çetin was killed in front of her eyes on the Mavi Marmara.
 Before leaving the ship, the crew had been able to clean up his body in preparation for the funeral and Çigdem had said her goodbyes with the body properly wrapped.  While in Be’er Sheva prison under interrogation she was shown a photograph of the dead body which had left in the sun to bloat so that she could only recognize his mouth.  Mrs Topçuoglu collapsed and was comforted by other women. 
 

Jerry Luqman commented


Their treatment of us was just completely unacceptable. I've never met anyone 
whose heart has become so hard and so black in my life.

Shane Dillon had been in the first group of detainees released.  He said in the detention area at Ben-Gurion airport the officials had been ‘generally unkind and unpleasant’.  The lights had been on and loud music was played to prevent him from sleeping, and he had been denied access to the toilet.

On the day of her deportation Theresa McDermott was crammed into a tiny cell in high-security vehicle with two other women.  They were kept in this for five hours, including three-and –a-half hours waiting at the airport.  One of the women in the cell was pregnant.  When they entered the airport they were jostled and jeered by soldiers, while at least three men were beaten up.  Unless the wounded could not physically walk they were not helped to the planes, even if they had drip or drainage bags.
 Blood stained and often in the same clothes since before the raid, many had been wounded in the feet and had to hop to the plane.  Anyone trying to help was shouted at, pulled away and beaten.
 Some people were assaulted by hard slaps to the back of the head as they went up a staircase. 
 
Many of those hospitalised reported maltreatment from the soldiers.

· Mehmet Yildirim was shot in the leg, which he said was kicked several times.

· Revaha Gümrükçü said he had been fairly treated by Israeli hospital staff but was not well treated by troops on the helicopter.  Later there was psychological pressure and he was told he would be imprisoned for ten years.

· Kenan Akçil was shot in the knee.  Turkish doctors were prevented from attending to him and he had been left lying handcuffed on the deck for two hours before the helicopter arrived.
· Adem Bakici who was shot in the knee said that it was pushed to right and left causing him great pain.  In hospital he was handcuffed to the bed and the chair.  Soldiers guarded him 24 hours a day and he was not allowed to use the toilet with the door closed.

· Muharren Güneş was shot at close range with the bullet entering his left cheek and coming out the right side of his neck.  Along with others he was dragged on the deck and left there naked for a few hours where he was sprayed with water and the helicopter caused a strong downdraft.   The soldiers shouted curses in English and Arabic.  He was cuffed very tightly so that his hands turned purple and swollen, causing him pain for days afterwards.  He was kicked all over.  A medical officer anaesthetised him and he woke up in hospital in Tel Aviv.
· Mustafa Batirhan who was shot three times in the stomach also had to lie on the deck for 3-4 hours.  He said the water and draft from the helicopter were ‘inhumane’.  Soldiers trod on his back.
· Mehmet Ali Zeybek lost a lot of blood from the wounds caused by nine rubber-coated bullets.  He also told of being stripped naked and laid shackled on the deck where he was subjected to water cannon and his torn clothes were thrown at him.  His request for a cup of water was ignored.  He was in Haifa hospital where the staff were kind but neither slept nor ate for the five days.  For the last two days he was confined in a stifling room where the lights were constantly on.  The soldiers spoke constantly but only in Hebrew and ignored his request not to smoke for fear it would trigger his migraine.  He was denied permission to see consular staff.  He was originally told he would be released at six, but at six they said he would be released an hour later and this continued every hour until his final release at five in the morning.  Two drivers came to take him to the airport and they just drove around the streets aimlessly and erratically so that he was thrown around the car, which amused them.
    
Ken O’Keefe arrived at Istanbul airport on 6 June with a large lump on his forehead and dried blood all over his face and on his clothes.  He said that he had been severely beaten up at the detention centre in Tel-Aviv airport
 and in consequence had been hospitalised in Tel Aviv.
  While in custody on the ship he was beaten and choked to the point of blacking out and beaten again while in prison.
 Of the time in detention he said

We were all treated like dogs from the first moment: denied access to water, 
denied access to food, denied access to make a phone call to tell our family, 
denied access to a lawyer, pushed, kicked punched, ah otherwise abused in any 
which way you can think of, lied to incessantly, and you know this was the kind 
of treatment we got from beginning to end.
 

Four Arab Israelis were released on 3 June by Ashkelon Magistrates Court

· Mr Muhaamed Zeidan, Chairman of the High Follow-up Committee for Arab Citizens of Israel.

· Sheikh Raed Salah, Head of the Islamic Movement in Israel.
· Sheikh Hamad Abu Daabes, Head of the Islamic Movement in Israel (southern branch).
· Ms Lubna Masarwa of the Free Gaza Movement and Al Quds University.
Their release was on condition 

i. That they remain under house arrest until 8 June 2010.

ii. That they do not leave the country for 45 days.

iii. That a bond for NIS 150,000 be posted by a third party.

Their legal team argued that they should all be released unconditionally since their detention was illegal.  The defence lawyers stated their intention to consider an appeal.
The state prosecution emphasized in court that its request for a remand was in accordance with the state’s policy of investigating and detaining citizens of Israel who participated in the Gaza Freedom Flotilla.  The defence team argued that they were being detained because they are Palestinian Arab citizens of Israel.
  

6.1 Activists’ property
Apart from photographic equipment many activists also reported the theft of money, credit cards, electronic goods, and clothes.
 
 Some activists have reported that their stolen credit cards have since been used.  Several had their passports withheld.  The passports are of particular concern because of the fraudulent use, presumably by Israel, of European and Australian passports during the murder of Mahmoud al-Mabhouh in Dubai in January 2010.
· Henning Mankell said ‘They stole my camera, my telephone … even my socks.’

· Some of the electronic equipment had been returned but was all smashed up.  Much of it was not returned at all.
   
· At the airport Jamal Elshayyal was given a piece of paper instead of his passport by an official who said ‘this is your new passport’.  When he remonstrated the official replied ‘sue me’.  The Israeli government stole his lap top, two cameras, three phones, $1,500 and all his other possessions.

· Ken O’Keefe left Israel dressed only in a T-shirt and blood-stained trousers.  He said all his other possessions had been stolen, including his Palestinian passport.
  
· Fiachra Ó'Luain was also deprived of his passport and is asking the Irish Minister for Foreign Affairs to take action.

· Bilal Abdul Aziz said that he had lost more than £3,500, his driving licence, a permit to work as a teacher in Saudi Arabia, a lap top and many items of clothing.

· At the airport Marcello Faraggi had to sign a form acknowledging that he had entered Israel illegally in order to get his passport back.  He was given back his bags but the camera bag only contained old clothes and rubbish.  He had lost more than 20,000 Euros worth of equipment.
 
· Manolo Luppichini received a form in Be’er Sheva prison saying that his passport had been impounded.  Neither his identification papers nor any of his personal effects stolen on the boat were returned.  On 2 June while he was in prison NIS 10 was withdrawn from a vending machine on his credit card.  After he returned to Italy the card was again used in Israel for a purchase of NIS 240.  (An IDF spokesman said all the magnetic media was taken for ‘security reasons’ – this was not explained – and that they were considering whether to return the items.  There was a suggestion that the police might conduct an inquiry into the illegal use of the card.)

· Kathy Sheetz provided Press TV with her bank statements showing that her bank card which was taken by commandos during the attack on the Mavi Marmara had since been used in Tel Aviv.  It appeared that attempts to use the card without a PIN were unsuccessful, but it had worked in a vending machine where it had been repeatedly used for the purchase of beer.
 Six days later on 18 June in the Guardian online she alleged that more than $1,000 had been charged to her account from transactions in Israel.
· Ebrahim Musajii said his card which had been taken by the soldiers had been used in Israel and twice on a Dutch website.  His bank had agreed to treat the transactions as fraudulent.  His mobile phone had also been used for two short calls in Israel.  A spokeswoman from the Israeli embassy advised him to register a formal complaint.
· David Schermerhorn claimed his iPhone was used.

· Press TV reported that cash and equipment taken on the flotilla could have a total value of $3,5million.
 As of 9 June only two or three laptops and a similar number of phones had been recovered.  The missing items included 600 mobile phones, 400 video cameras, 350 laptops and large amounts of cash raised for charities in Gaza.
Israeli authorities said that the lost property had either been returned to IHH or had been mixed up with aid waiting to go to Gaza.  They denied any knowledge of any missing cash whatsoever.

7.0 The seizure of the Rachel Corrie
Despite the attacks of 31 May the MV Rachel Corrie continued to sail towards Gaza intent on delivering its 5,000 ton cargo of cement plus medical and educational supplies.  On 3 June, captain and part-owner Derek Graham said everyone was very upset by what had happened but they were more determined to carry on.  Israeli authorities demanded that security checks on the cargo should take place in the port of Ashdod, while allowing this inspection to be under the supervision of officials from the UN and the Irish Aid Division of Ireland’s Ministry of Foreign Affairs.  The entire cargo, including 550 tonnes of cement would then have been transhipped to Gaza accompanied by two persons from the ship.  After careful consideration by those on board the offer was rejected.  A counter offer to allow an inspection in international waters by the IDF under UN supervision before the ship proceeded to Gaza under UN escort was similarly refused.
 Captain Graham said he was concerned that not all the cargo would be delivered from Ashdod.

In the early hours of 5 June the ship was surrounded by two warships, two gunboats and six zodiacs and then boarded by 30 to 35 fully armed commandos 30 km off the coast of Gaza.
  There was no resistance from the eleven passengers and eight crew members on board and the capture took place without violence.  Captain Graham had heard that the captain of the Mavi Marmara had been shot dead when commandos had stormed his ship
 and that he had feared for his life when he was ordered to remain alone in the wheelhouse.  Captain Graham was not harmed.  Film-maker Fiona Thompson had her camera and computer equipment taken but she managed to conceal the footage and smuggle it out despite repeated searches during her two-day stay in detention.  Passenger and Nobel Peace laureate Mairead Maguire said she felt they had let the people of Palestine down, saying


We lifted their hopes that the world cared and sadly we let them down but we 
say to the people of Gaza, we will be back. We will treble our efforts because 
we will not rest until the siege is ended.
 

The vessel was accompanied to Ashdod and passengers and crew were soon flown out of the country because they had waived their rights of appeal.
  It has not been confirmed how much of the cargo arrived in Gaza.
8.0 The cargo

Goods from the flotilla were offloaded at Ashdod and selected items were trucked to Gaza with much publicity.  On 2 June officials at Gaza refused to accept goods as long as the activists who brought them were detained, while insisting that Israel transfer all the goods and not just selected items.  About 30 truckloads of goods were refused for this reason.  Minister of Social Affairs Ahmed Al Kurd said


We will refuse the aid as long as the victims of Israel’s attack remain in prison.  
Without exception we demand their release.

He added that some of the rejected goods were broken or had parts missing such as a set of electric wheelchairs which had no batteries.
 An Israeli spokesman denied that Israel had confiscated any goods, saying that it had not finished unloading the cargo.

IRIN reported that after intense diplomatic negotiation the impasse was resolved on 17 June when the UN agreed to oversee the delivery of the aid in conjunction with other international relief organizations.  IHH accepted this arrangement and submitted a beneficiary list to UNSCO (UN Special Coordinator for the Middle East Peace Process).  IHH was concerned that material it had shipped for specific purposes, such as heavy generators to operate public water wells, should not be allotted to UN projects.
 

Al Manar reported on 12 June that Israel had buried part of the humanitarian aid cargo, notably tinned food, crockery along with activist’s personal belongings in the landfill site at Doudaim in the Negev Desert.  The newspaper quoted a report that a further lorry had come in under police escort and the full load had been deposited at the site.

9.0 Censorship and disinformation
Israeli forces took or destroyed all cameras, recording equipment, phones and notes from everyone on the flotilla soon after coming on board.  Any cameras that passengers did manage to get to Turkey were either smashed or at the very least stripped of their memory cards.
  Jamal Elshayyal said that journalists were searched several times, and anyone caught trying to conceal anything was strip searched to ensure that no one on the flotilla could get away with any evidence of the atrocity that Israel had committed.
  Daniel Machover, a specialist in international criminal law observed


The quality of evidence was degraded massively the moment Israel took all the 
evidence into its own hands.

All the abducted journalists were locked up for 72 hours and most emerged empty handed.  For the crucial first three days of the story the Israelis had sole access to the media, a point that was often not explained, particularly in the American media.  Global networks relied heavily on two one-minute sequences of footage (from a great many hours of footage) which had been shot, edited and circulated by the Israeli military. Cent Uygarm commented


That leads me to believe that only two minutes of it were positive for them and 
the rest of it shows a disaster on board that does not help the Israeli Defence 
Forces at all.
Iara Lee said the Israelis had thought they had it all taken care of by jamming the satellite system and attacking during the hours of darkness.  They thought they would be the only ones holding the information.  But journalists had concealed the existence of a back up system which had managed to transmit live some of the events and others had managed to smuggle out photographs and videos. (Ms Lee herself had smuggled out a crucial one hour’s video footage.
 Kevin Neish had managed to conceal the memory card from his camera in various places on his body during his internment having thrown his expensive camera away to help conceal the film.  On arrival in Istanbul he had handed the memory card over to IHH and copies of his photos of the three commandos under arrest by flotilla activists were published by a Turkish newspaper on 7 June.
)  
Jamal Dajani of Link TV thinks the reaction of people cheering and celebrating on the streets of Tel Aviv showed that the spin was successful inside Israel, but he thinks it failed externally.

Security services enforced strict censorship at Ela Prison
 and Ben-Gurion airport, preventing reporters from interviewing any of the activists.  A blackout was imposed on the names and nationalities of everyone on board and the locations of the wounded were not revealed.  Some details did leak out but journalists were prevented from talking to hospitalized activists in Israel by soldiers stationed in the corridors of the hospitals.  Israeli journalists from Haaretz complained of extreme difficulty in accessing military leaders when seeking interviews or comments.
 Selected video footage stolen from journalists by the IDF was posted without permission on You Tube entitled ‘video taken on the Gaza flotilla’.
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 [IDF spokesperson]      

Israeli sources have publicised weapons caches found on the Mavi Marmara.  Fig. 4 is a photograph from the Israeli Ministry of Foreign Affairs
 showing the quality of weaponry found.  It is not possible to discern blood traces or any other indication that these items have been violently used.  The large bladed knife on the mat is a cultural Yemeni knife.  Every Yemeni man carries one, and it has nothing to do with violence.
 Although it was forbidden to take it on the ship there is no evidence that it was violently used.  All those killed had been shot with 9mm bullets.  IDF issue small arms which use this ammunition include Glock semi-automatic pistols and Uzi submachine guns,
 which are for more dangerous than anything featured in the photograph.
The IDF issued a recording on 4 June purporting to include anti-Semitic and racist comments from persons on the Mavi Marmara broadcast over a marine radio channel.  The report was published in several Israeli and international publications including Haaretz, Yedioth Ahronot and The Washington Post, and aired at prime time in Israel that day (Friday).  It has since been exposed as a propaganda fraud by Ma’an News and others.
 
  Huwaida Arraf, as Chair of the Free Gaza Movement, can be heard answering the radio from the Challenger I.  She said the radios had only been used by the ships’ captains and herself and the other comments never took place over the radio.  The voices making the racist comments had male American accents whereas the captains were one British, one Algerian, two Turks and two Greeks. The broadcast had been recorded on Challenger I‘s radio but the soldiers had seized it, and she challenged the IDF to give back the documentation if they have nothing to hide.
 Captain Mehmut Tuval does not appear to have been asked about these comments during his secretly filmed interviews in Israeli detention.  (On 23 June the discredited broadcast was still mentioned on the Israel Ministry of Foreign Affairs website.
) 
Max Blumenthal and a colleague also forced the IDF to alter the title of a press release which had falsely accused some members of the convoy of being Al Qaeda mercenaries.

An IDF press release issued on 6 June alleged that five passengers from the Mavi Marmara were known to be involved in terrorist activity.  No supporting evidence was provided.
  One of those mentioned was American lawyer Fatima Mohammadi who said she was angry that they would attempt to discredit humanitarian aid workers in such a fear-based manner.
 Another was Ken O’Keefe who had attempted to enter Gaza in 2004 to discuss a plan to take 10,000 international observers to the Palestinian Territories. He was arrested and deported by Israeli authorities.  He told the Irish Times the statement was ‘slanderous’ and that he was considering suing the authorities, adding


…if they are really serious, am I on a hit list now?  Will a Mossad hit squad 
come and get me? They did that recently in Dubai and look what they did with 
the flotilla last week.

Jeff Halper explained the media strategy.


The actual action was a [P.R.] disaster.  The violence: that was a disaster for 
Israel.  But I think Israel is trying to recoup that to some degree by turning the 
whole thing on its head, where they (the people on the boat) were the violent 
people, they were the terrorists.  They were not just peace activists and they 
ambushed our soldiers.

10.0 Reactions in the Knesset
MK Hanin Zoabi who was on the Mavi Marmara described the Israeli attack as a ‘pirate military operation’ during a debate in the Knesset on 2 June.  She demanded an explanation for the order to confiscate reporter’s cameras and the reason why the government had banned the media from publishing photos of the people killed on board.  After another member of the Knesset tried to physically attack her she was provided with bodyguards.  A scuffle had broken out on the podium causing other legislators to intervene on her behalf.
  Amidst unruly scenes MK Miri Regev shouted at Ms Zoabi in Arabic ‘Go to Gaza, traitor’.  Amongst many insulting and disrespectful remarks from several members MK Moshe Mutz Matalon said


Unfortunately, the [commando] fighters [who raided the flotilla] acted with too 
much restraint.  They left only nine floating voters.

More than 500 people have signed a Facebook page calling for Ms Zoabi’s execution.  She now has two fulltime bodyguards but has no regrets and said if she were to be invited again she would do it again.

Knesset disapproval of Ms Zoabi’s actions was again demonstrated on 7 June when the House Committee, by seven votes to one, recommended revoking three of her privileges (exit the country, carry a diplomatic passport, and have the Knesset cover litigation fees if she is put on trial).  Interior Minister Eli Yishai also petitioned the attorney general to revoke her citizenship saying ‘This is a premeditated act of treason’.

In an interview for Haaretz before she joined the flotilla MK Zoabi said she did not fear the reaction on her return.


No, the truth is that I'm not afraid because what will happen to me when I 
come back is part and parcel of what happened to me before I left. The 
incitement, the mantra which states that Arab MKs are extremists who do not 
represent their constituency.  People say to us, ‘You are Israel-haters. You want 
to destroy the state of Israel. You, you...’


Whoever demands equality in the Jewish state - and that apparently has 
become such a revolutionary, far-reaching demand - ultimately ends up paying 
the price.

On 6 June it was reported that Minister of Interior Eli Yishai asked Defence Minister Ehud Barak to award Citations of Valour to all the commandos involved in the incident saying ‘The warrior’s courage is exemplary and they deserve a citation’.

11.0 Investigations into the attacks  
On 1 June the UN Security Council issued a presidential statement in which

    
The Security Council takes note of the statement of the UN secretary-general 
on the need to have a full investigation into the matter and it calls for a 
prompt, 
impartial, credible and transparent investigation conforming to 
international standards.

11.1 The Israeli commission of inquiry
Israel rejected calls for an international inquiry and insisted that it would appoint its own committee to undertake the task.  In response to pressure from the U.S. administration a retired Israel Supreme Court judge, Yaakov Tirkel was appointed to head the inquiry.
 The other members appointed to the Commission were Maj-Gen (ret.) Amos Horev and Shabbtai Rosen, professor of international law at Bar Ilan University.  David Trimble, former First Minister of Northern Ireland, and Ken Watkin, former head of Canada’s military judiciary were appointed as international observers.
 Lord Trimble is also a co-founder of the newly-launched Israel advocacy group, Friends of Israel. 

Paul Wood explained


An experienced politician like Benjamin Netanyahu knows that getting the 
outcome you want from a public inquiry is all about the right terms of reference 
and who you appoint to sit on the inquiry.  So, the commissions' remit does not 
include looking at the process of government decision making which led to 
the Israeli commando raid. It will instead focus on questions of international 
law.  And the two foreign observers who have been appointed are seen as 
friends of Israel.

A Haaretz editorial of 13 June scornfully observed

In an interview to Army Radio, Tirkel said there is no choice but to establish a 
state committee of inquiry. He opposed bringing in foreign observers and made 
clear that he is not a devotee of drawing conclusions about individuals and 
dismissing those responsible for failures. When a Haaretz reporter confronted 
Tirkel about these remarks, the former justice evaded the question saying, “I 
don’t remember what I said.”

In a second editorial on 15 June the paper declared that the authority of the committee was too limited to conduct a real investigation and suggested that it was intended as a pubic-relations tool that would add to the immense damage already caused to Israel’s reputation abroad.  Of the chairman it said


Committee chairman Jacob Tirkel's observation ahead of his appointment that 
certain people must not be found at fault raises a question mark over whether 
he was selected precisely because of that remark.

Amnesty International (AI) shared this concern in a statement of 15 June which declared

The Commission looks to be neither independent nor sufficiently transparent, 
the two international observers may be denied access to crucial information, 
and the Commission’s findings may not be used in future prosecutions.

AI was concerned that


The Commission will not have access to members of the Israeli military who 
were involved in the planning and implementation of the military action, 
except for the Chief of Staff, and there is nothing to indicate that its findings 
or recommendations will be binding.

It noted that 


Any information considered “almost certain to cause substantial harm” to 
Israel’s national security or foreign relations, by the Commission chair can be 
withheld from the international observers.


The Commission may also choose to censor their report on similar grounds, 
after consulting with what is vaguely termed ‘the authorized bodies’.

Malcolm Smart AI’s director for the Middle East and North Africa said the Commission


... should not allow the political considerations of the Israeli government to 
determine which of its findings are made public.     

while declaring

The stipulation that the findings of the Commission cannot be used in future 
legal proceedings is particularly worrying.

Turkey’s Foreign Minister said he had no trust at all that Israel would conduct an impartial investigation while the Palestinian President Mahmoud Abbas said the terms of the inquiry did not comply with the call from the UN Security Council.

On 15 June Israeli peace activists petitioned the High Court of Justice to void the decision to establish a public committee and instead create a national committee to investigate the raid.  The petitioners said that the public committee does not have the authority to properly investigate the events leading to the raid.  Also on 15 June Israel’s State Comptroller, Micha Lindenstrauss, announced that he would investigate the legality of the government’s decision-making for the raid, as well as intelligence, public relations and media issues relating to the incident.  Mr Lindenstrauss pointed out that his inquiry would not address the tactical or operational aspects of the raid which are being investigated internally by the IDF, neither would it investigate legal aspects to be covered by Justice Tirkel’s committee.

The Free Gaza Movement repeated its calls on 15 June for an independent, international investigation saying that Israel could not be trusted to investigate its own actions. 
  
[Defence Minister Ehud Barak had been due to attend the Eurosatory arms fair in Paris to promote Israeli merchandise.  On 13 June his office announced that he would stay home while Israel forms the committee to investigate the raid on the flotilla.  Informed sources have admitted that had Mr Barak travelled he was likely to have been the subject of an arrest warrant from human rights groups acting under the principle of universal jurisdiction.
]

11.2 UN Human Rights Council (UNHRC) Resolution 2 June 2010

In a resolution adopted by 32 votes (including two permanent Security Council members) to 3 (one permanent Security Council member) with 9 abstentions (two permanent Security Council members) the UNHRC

· Condemned the ‘outrageous attack by the Israeli forces’;
· Deeply deplored the loss of life;
· Called upon Israel to fully cooperate with the ICRC to provide information on the detained and injured persons;
· Demanded the release of all detainees and to safely facilitate their return home.

· Called upon Israel to lift the siege of Gaza;
· Called upon Israel to ensure unimpeded provision of humanitarian assistance;
· Welcomed the condemnation of the UN Secretary-General and the UN Commissioner for Human Rights along with calls for full accountability and credible independent inquiries;
· Decides to dispatch an independent international fact finding mission to investigate violations of international law, including international humanitarian and human rights law, resulting from the Israeli attacks on the flotilla of ships carrying humanitarian assistance;
· Authorized the President of the Council to appoint members to its fact finding mission who are to report their findings at the next session of the UNHRC;
· Decided to remain seized of the matter.

11.3 Legal proceedings

· German members of parliament Annette Groth and Inge Höger, who were on the Mavi Marmara, filed a war crimes complaint against Israel on 11 June. The complaints were for 



…numerous potential offences, including war crimes against individuals 


and command responsibility […] as well as false imprisonment.


International criminal law expert Florian Jessberger explained


There is cause to believe that false imprisonment was perpetrated as 


understood by German law. German criminal law would have jurisdiction 


irrespective of the fact that the act was perpetrated on the high seas.


German public prosecutors were investigating whether there was enough 

evidence to warrant pursuing the case further.

· Israeli-Swedish peace activist and artist Dror Feiler said on 12 June he would file suit against Israel for assault and false imprisonment.

· Eight French nationals announced on 12 June that they will start legal proceedings in the French courts for abduction, illegal confinement, violence with arms, hijacking and theft and in the International Court of Justice (ICJ) for war crimes. The submission before of the ICJ was serving notice to the prosecutor who would decide whether to proceed with the case or not. The plaintiffs’ lawyer emphasised that the Israel government’s decision to lead its own inquiry lacks credibility.
  
· On 15 June the Free Gaza Movement announced that it is working with lawyers in a number of countries including Turkey, the UK, the Netherlands, Israel and the United States in order to pursue legal action against Israel. 

· In the UK on 15 June the Palestine Legal Aid Fund offered to represent passengers wishing to assert their rights through legal action against Israel.  Six internationally renowned lawyers have already joined the team which intends to launch a court case in Britain in the name of hundreds of activists illegally abducted and imprisoned.

12.0 Commentary
1.
The activists were restricted in their movements and ability to talk both on the ships and at Ashdod, and there is no record that they were allowed to freely associate at Be’er Sheva.  On their release they were not allowed to congregate at Tel Aviv, and tired and exhausted they very quickly went home.  As a result their testimonies were given in many different locations and to different media outlets.  Despite this the testaments are consistent, and they agree in detail with the very few photographs or records that evaded Israeli capture.  There has been no attempt by those involved to deny the defence of the Mavi Marmara, and the difference with Israeli accounts is one of interpretation. 

By contrast the Israeli authorities now have possession, and control, of most of the photographic and recorded evidence.  They have interrogated all the activists and had access to all Israeli personnel involved in the raid and all the ships on which the violence occurred.  Despite the wealth of evidence available to them Israeli accounts have contained serious inconsistencies and deficiencies while only a small, selected amount of corroborating evidence has been released.  (Many of these inconsistencies are assessed in section 3.2 above.)  Many serious allegations concerning the activists and their intentions have been made on the basis of inadequate and flawed evidence.  As a result it is difficult to avoid the suspicion of a cover-up.  The refusal to allow an international inquiry, coupled with the restricted terms of reference given to the Tirkel committee only strengthens these concerns.

2.
The question of legality of the siege is fundamental to the legality of Israel’s attack on the flotilla.  The press release on 14 June from the ICRC detailing the humanitarian crisis in Gaza invalidated the last pretence of any justification for the blockade under the San Remo Manual, which has been Israel’s defence for its actions.  Articles 101 and 102 make it clear that a blockade must not be implemented if the damage to the civilian population is excessive.  Although the raid on the flotilla took place before the release of the ICRC statement, relief agencies and NGOs have long reported the dire conditions in Gaza.  For example in January 2009, in response to a statement denying the humanitarian crisis by the then Israeli Foreign Minister Tzipi Livni, UNRWA spokesman Christopher Gunness said her statement was ‘utter nonsense’ citing 
· a million people without electricity;

· three-quarters of a million people without running water;

· middle income families burning their furniture to heat food;

· hospitals running their services 24/7 on generators.

The humanitarian crisis had been in existence for a long time before the flotilla raid and Israeli politicians are well aware of this.

3.
Having committed itself to an illegal act the Israeli forces compounded the crime by the excessive and gratuitous use of force coupled with inhumane treatment and brutality against people subsequently kept in illegal detention.  This included mistreatment of injured people taken into detention by Israel.  There has also been wholesale plundering of cameras, mobile phones and other equipment amounting to an estimated $3.5 million.  (The term ‘confiscation’ implies some legitimacy which does not apply here.)  Private theft has also occurred. 
4.
Faced with unlawful attack the flotilla was entitled to mount a defence.  On four of the vessels this defence took the form of non-violent obstruction.  Nonetheless the response from the assailants involved brutality on each ship, and widespread injuries were incurred.  Only on the Mavi Marmara was any violence used in defence of the ship, involving probably less than 10 percent of the passengers and none of the crew.  There had been some advanced preparation for this, but the defence amounted to primitive weapons used by an untrained and ragged but very determined group battling against a heavily-armed and well-equipped elite military unit.  The early use and quantity of live fire employed by the commandos might reflect Israeli intelligence of the presence of militants on board prepared to fight into defence of the ship. 

The first assault was from zodiacs firing a variety of weaponry, but possibly not live fire at this stage.  This was driven off by fire hoses and objects dropped from the upper decks.  Live fire was then initiated from a helicopter and the first lethal casualties occurred before any commandos landed on the ship, and before the IDF admitted using live fire in Ron Ben Yishai’s account (mentioned in section 4.2 above).  The first commandos landing were overwhelmed and disarmed and three were detained and were well treated.  Shortly after this there appears to have been widespread firing deliberately intended to cause death or at least serious injury.  The final tally on the Mavi Marmara is still not certain although nine people are known to have died and perhaps 50 injured, mostly from gunshot wounds.  Little is known about injuries sustained by the commandos.  The widespread allegations of firing by militants are uncorroborated, consistently denied and almost certainly untrue.  Significantly, Israel, which controls virtually all the filmed record of this raid, has been unable so far to produce any photographic record to back up its allegations.  Any gunshot injuries sustained by commandos therefore would most likely have come from Israeli friendly fire given the amount of shooting that occurred.   Given that the illegal and violent Israeli assault instigated the fighting the claim that commandos fired in ‘self-defence’ is unsustainable.
5.
One IDF report on the deaths of the nine activists needs further comment.
On 4 June the Jerusalem Post
 reported the exclusive story of a soldier identified only as Staff-Sergeant S. who was in the second group to rappel onto the Mavi Marmara where he was immediately attacked by a ‘mob of mercenaries’.  At the same time S had seen his three commanders lying on the ground and assessed that one had a gunshot wound to the stomach, another had a gunshot wound to the knee, and the third was unconscious with his skull fracture by ‘a devastating blow with a metal bar’.  S. had taken charge, pushed the injured men against a wall and organised the commando into two perimeter lines where they had opened fire.  At was at this point that the nine fatal injuries occurred, six of whom were killed by S. 

The IDF, the report continued, had been attacked by a well-trained group of mercenaries, most of whom carried no ID but who each had thousands of dollars in their pockets.  They all wore gas masks and ceramic bullet proof vests and were equipped with Motorola communications devices.

Much of the story regarding Staff-Sergeant S was repeated in the TIMESONLINE the following day.

There is photographic evidence that the three injured commandos were taken below decks in a conscious state and given medical aid.  The Daily News and Economic Review published six photos of the injured commandos
 while INTERNETHABER published a further three
.  In none of them are there any indications of gun shot wounds or anything resembling a fractured skull.  Not only were the injured men not on deck or unconscious when the second commando arrived, but Dr Uysal did not report any gunshot wounds or serious head wounds to any of the captives.  (At the time of his detailed diagnosis S was also fighting for his life against a mob and was in command of the commando group.)    

Because of these serious discrepancies the whole article has been considered not credible and the information has not been used in the above record.  
6.
This excessive use of force and maltreatment was carried out under the close supervision of the unit commander of the Shayetet 13 naval commando and the commander of the Israel navy, both of whom were present in the vicinity.

Neither has publicly expressed any disapproval of the violence.  There has been public approval from senior politicians for the way the raid was conducted.  There is reason to suppose therefore that this abuse was deliberate and planned, and formed part of a political policy that was premeditated.  
7.
In this context the attacks on previous vessels seeking to break the blockade can be seen to be part of a pattern.

i. The MV Dignity belonging to the Free Gaza Movement was attacked on 30 December 2008 without any provocation or warning, in international waters and in darkness during the early hours of the morning.  It was rammed at speed three times approximately 50 miles from land in winds of force 4 to 5 and a 3 metre sea.  The Dignity’s Mayday call was unanswered by the two Israeli gunboats which accused the boat’s occupants over the maritime radio of being subversive and involved with terrorists.  The gunboats then threatened to shoot if the stricken boat did not turn back.  Miraculously there was no loss of life on that occasion and the boat was able to reach the port of Sour unaided.

ii. In February 2009 the cargo ship Tali was attacked by the Israel Navy and taken to the port of Ashdod.  Al Jazeera reported that the ship was fired on by the Israel Navy and about 20 passengers were kicked and beaten.  Israeli sources said a small quantity of the reputed 50 tonnes of food and medical supplies on board would be delivered to Gaza.

iii. The Israel Navy threatened to open fire on the Spirit of Humanity on 30 June 2009 which was hijacked 12 hours later to Ashdod where the abducted passengers and crew were incarcerated.  Of the cargo destined for Gaza, only the medical supplies are known to have been delivered, while the other goods including food, toys and construction materials are presumed to have been destroyed.  The boat has never been returned neither has any compensation been paid.

8.  
Many commentators have described the flotilla as an unnecessary provocation.  An Israeli government video says the flotilla organizers were told they would be allowed to dock in Ashdod and unload the supplies they had on board for transfer to Gaza.  (The Israeli Government Spokesman Mark Regev qualified this to ‘every single humanitarian item’.)  The video tells us that the decision to seize the ships was taken 



…only after the flotilla organizers made it clear that they had no 
intention of cooperating in any way…
  

It is questionable whether the flotilla organizers rejected all cooperation in such absolute terms when it has been reported that by consensus the crew and passengers of the Rachel Corrie had offered to undergo an inspection by the IDF, supervised by the UN, in international waters before proceeding under UN escort to Gaza.  We know also that this offer was rejected by the Israeli government.   Captain Graham gave the reason for rejecting the Israeli offer as concern that some of the cargo would not be delivered.  He probably knew that large quantities of the cargos from the Spirit of Humanity and Tali did not reach Gaza.  It is also known now that despite worldwide attention, at least one lorry load of flotilla aid has gone to landfill in the Negev.  Furthermore Israel has to date refused to allow cement into Gaza as humanitarian aid despite a desperate need for this commodity.  (Mr Regev’s distinction here becomes an important one, especially when Israel is both judge and executioner.) 
9.
It is appropriate here to consider the term ‘terrorism’ which has been used by certain Israelis against members of the flotilla.  The FBI definition for the word is 



Terrorism is the unlawful use of force or violence against persons or 
property to intimidate or coerce a government, the civilian population, 
or any segment thereof, in furtherance of political or social 
objectives.


Because of the illegal nature of the raid the activists, who were attempting by legal means to reach Gaza, cannot correctly be called terrorists, whereas the state of Israel, which was unlawfully exercising force of violence against part of the civilian population, (the activists) in furtherance of political objectives, should correctly be described as having conducted state terrorism.
10.
From the pattern of Israeli attacks at sea which have been occurring for at least eighteen months, (and for much longer against Gazan fishermen) it can be seen that there is a deliberate policy of terror employing reckless violence and intimidation as a tool to enforce the illegal use of power and control. 

11.
This terror has been explained away by programmes of lies and deception.  It is impossible to accept for example that Prime Minister Netanyahu and Foreign Minister Lieberman could both be ignorant of the truth when they each stated publicly that activists on five of the ships in the flotilla were unharmed.  It is not possible to believe that Mr Netanyahu and his Defence Minister Ehud Barak were unaware that the commander of the Israel navy personally oversaw the deployment of a large fleet in a meticulously planned terrorist operation in international waters which killed, injured, assaulted, robbed, abducted, detained, maltreated, psychologically abused, humiliated, insulted and vilified hundreds of people daring to commit themselves to the principle of human rights, even in Gaza under Israeli occupation.
12.
As detailed in section 5 above witnesses have testified to IDF troops violently attacked the flotilla’s smaller passenger craft on 31 May. 


On MV Eleftheri Mesogeio


People were attacked by rubber-coated bullets and tasers, they were 
handcuffed and mistreated.


On MV Challenger I 


One woman had her head banged on the deck and trod on, another 
was hit on the nose by a projectile, other passengers were tasered, 
dragged around the deck and hit with rifle butts.

On MV Sofia


One person was tasered, one shot with a rubber-coated bullet and one beaten up.

On MV Sfendoni

One man was shot with a rubber-coated bullet, beaten in the groin and the head and kicked on the deck, another was thrown to the deck twice and then kicked or hit on the head, and the captain suffered a punctured ear drum along with neck and back injuries.  Tasers were also used.  (One of the witnesses here is a former U.S. Ambassador.)
On 1 June in answer to a question from Jon Snow on Channel 4 News Mark Regev, spokesman for the prime minister of Israel replied

There were six interceptions yesterday, six interceptions.  All done by 
the Israeli Navy, all, five of them were done peaceably without 
violence without harm to soul to people.

13.
Mr Regev’s incredible denial of the truth is matched by Ron Ben Yishai’s account that commandos were told to verbally convince activists to give up, matched by the BBC report of 3 June quoting a soldier saying they had come to talk to activists and convince them to unboard [sic] the ship.  This is contradicted by Dror Feiler who sailed on board the Sofia and testified that he had tried to talk with the soldiers but had been beaten up.  Considering the fantastic stories of Staff Sgt S, of the injured commandos who jumped from the Mavi Marmara into the sea, and the denials about the use of the same calibre of ammunition that killed nine people aboard the cruise ship it would be naïve to believe the soldiers accounts here instead of the testimony of Mr Feiler.
12.
This international outrage could only have happened because Mr Netanyahu and Mr Barak ordered it.  Mr Netanyahu has now ordered an inadequate committee of inquiry, labelled a ‘farce’ by one Israeli newspaper,
 to exonerate the plotters and the perpetrators of this crime of any blame.  
13. 
The violent enforcement of the blockade, which was intended to stifle any challenge to its existence, has only served to motivate the survivors of this flotilla and their supporters to increase efforts to pressurise Israel, through world opinion and raised awareness, to abandon its policy of punishing the people of Gaza, and allow them to normalize their relations with the rest of the world.

13.0 Conclusion

The raid against the Gaza Freedom Flotilla on 31 May 2010 intentionally employed widespread violence as part of a policy to intimidate and prevent any challenge to Israel’s illegal and inhumane policies towards the people of the Gaza Strip.  Despite the violence and abuse inflicted on the activists the resolve to continue the struggle to break the blockade has increased in response to Israel’s state terror.  Faced with the cowardice and inaction of political leaders, the real international community committed to justice and universal human rights is uniting in determination to continue this struggle to a successful conclusion.
Fig.2 Dr Hasan Huseyn Uysal tends an Israeli commando captured during the raid.





Photo: IHH � HYPERLINK "http://www.flickr.com/photos/ihhinsaniyardimvakfi/4671645116/" �http://www.flickr.com/photos/ihhinsaniyardimvakfi/4671645116/�








Fig.1 There were three Israeli commandos that we had complete control over […] and I can tell you they looked at us like we were them and they thought we were going to do to them what they did to us.  They thought they were going to die.  But of course we let them go.


Ken O’Keefe





� HYPERLINK "http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=lZGN6SQWL3M&feature=related" �http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=lZGN6SQWL3M&feature=related�


(Accessed 7 June 2010)








Fig. 4 Weapons cache from the Mavi Marmara displayed by the IDF and including one Yemeni cultural knife, kitchen knives, fire-fighting axes, spanners and other general tools.


� HYPERLINK "http://www.mfa.gov.il/NR/rdonlyres/C9218AE8-5CB0-4E6E-80BE-7A48CD1F224F/0/marmaraweapons.gif" ��http://www.mfa.gov.il/NR/rdonlyres/C9218AE8-5CB0-4E6E-80BE-7A48CD1F224F/0/marmaraweapons.gif�





Fig. 3  Dead activist shot in the forehead                      Photo: Kevin Neish








� The Guardian reported 671 activists on 1 June and quoted Israel’s Interior Ministry as saying that 702 people were deported on 5 June, which presumably included crew members.  Six people are thought to be missing and the number (and immigration status) of flotilla members in Israeli hospitals has never been divulged.  The number of Israeli citizens who sailed on the flotilla is unknown.  


� For evidence of the position of Huwaida Arraf on non-violence readers are recommended to view the video ‘Palestinian Girl and Israeli Soldiers’. (Ms Arraf is the ‘Palestinian girl’ featured in the footage.) � HYPERLINK "http://youtube.com/watch?v=SQyIKyd2gqA" �http://youtube.com/watch?v=SQyIKyd2gqA� .


� Huwaida Arraf told journalists that the flotilla had hired independent security to verify that the boats were weapons free.  Mel Frykburg, 4 June 2010; The Electronic Intifada.





� In justifying Israel’s refusal to allow cement and aggregates into the Gaza Strip Ms Maudi said ‘Concrete could be used to cast rockets [sic] or it can be used to build reinforced bunkers…’


� Since the initial boarding of the ship was likely illegal, the civilian passengers did had [sic] the right to act in self-defence against the invading soldiers. However, lawful self defence on the part of the civilians was limited to reasonable force in the circumstances. Since the ship’s flag determines the legal jurisdiction of the ship that it flies [sic] and, in this case, it was a Turkish flag, the precise rules on self-defence and the amount of force permitted, is determined by Turkish criminal law. However, given that the Israeli commanders [sic] were displaying firearms and the response appears to have been through the use of ‘sharp objects’ including ‘sticks’ and in some cases, ‘bladed weapons’, it is arguable that the response by the civilians was indeed proportional to the threat they faced, especially if evidence emerges that Israeli commandos had used their weapons on any civilians prior to their actions against the commandos.


Lawyers for Palestinian Human Rights: The Attack on the Gaza Freedom Flotilla and International Law. � HYPERLINK "http://intifada-palestine.com/2010/06/flotilla-lawyers-for-palestinian-human-rights-the-attack-on-the-gaza-freedom-flotilla-and-international-law/" �http://intifada-palestine.com/2010/06/flotilla-lawyers-for-palestinian-human-rights-the-attack-on-the-gaza-freedom-flotilla-and-international-law/� 


(Accessed 6 June 2010)





� This is difficult to corroborate.  In a video recorded speech on the ship before departure from Istanbul Mr Yildirim is quoted in translation as saying ‘If you send the commandos we will throw you down from here and you will be humiliated in front of the whole world.’ 


� HYPERLINK "http://www.youtube.com/v/wSYjuDEZw1w&hl=en_US&fs=1&rel=0&border=1%22%20type=%22application/x-shockwave-flash%22%20allowscriptaccess=%22always%22%20allowfullscreen=%22true%22%20width=%22425%22%20height=%22344%22" \t "clips2" �EVIDENCE: IHH leader urges men to throw Israelis overboard � � HYPERLINK "http://www.mfa.gov.il/MFA/MFAArchive/2010/Gaza_flotilla_videos.htm" �http://www.mfa.gov.il/MFA/MFAArchive/2010/Gaza_flotilla_videos.htm� (Accessed 24 June 2010)


� It is incredible that at least four days after the event naval commanders did not appear to know precisely how many of their commandos had sustained gunshot wounds.


� Paintball guns are specifically adapted to use in close quarter assaults by special forces. The pellets do not contain only ‘paint’ but are usually filled with compressed gases and other chemical irritants to debilitate human targets at a localised level.


�HYPERLINK "http://info-wars.org/2010/06/12/italian-flotilla-journalist-my-credit-card-was-used-after-idf-confiscated-it/"��http://info-wars.org/2010/06/12/italian-flotilla-journalist-my-credit-card-was-used-after-idf-confiscated-it/� (Accessed 12 June 2010)





Victoria Snelgrove died in Boston U.S.A. on 21 October 2004 after a ‘303 blunt trauma/pepper spray projectile’ fired by police hit her in the eye causing her to bleed excessively.  � HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Victoria_Snelgrove" ��http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Victoria_Snelgrove� (Accessed 20 June 2010)





The Turkish forensic team found one wound containing pellets similar to a shotgun cartridge.


� HYPERLINK "http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/2010/jun/04/gaza-flotilla-activists-autopsy-results?CMP=AFCYAH" �http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/2010/jun/04/gaza-flotilla-activists-autopsy-results?CMP=AFCYAH� (Accessed 5 June 2010)








� In a poor quality video purporting to show the killing of 19-year-old Furkan Dogan it is possible to discern a commando kicking something on the ground before bringing up his automatic rifle and apparently firing it several times towards the ground.  The original clip was aired on the Turkish TV network Cihan.


� HYPERLINK "http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=RlElXOJV4CA" �http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=RlElXOJV4CA� (Accessed 10 June 2010)


There has been much debate on the internet about the veracity of this video.  This debate should not be allowed to obscure the essential facts: Mr Dogan was unlawfully killed by five bullets fired into him at very close range.  Regardless of the authenticity of the video one can reasonably assume that his death was just as ruthless and obscene as the events portrayed here, whether falsely or otherwise.





� A British official only asked Osama Qashoo his name and contact number in the U.K.


� Captain Mehmut Tuval was not amongst those killed and in Israeli videos filmed during his detention he does not appear to have been injured.  Captain Graham was obviously unaware of this.
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